
For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
 
Acrobat X or Adobe Reader X, or later.
 

Get Adobe Reader Now! 

http://www.adobe.com/go/reader




                                                                                      AGENDA BOOK                                  


Charleston, SC


 NATIONAL FISH HABITAT PARTNERSHIP
         Board Meeting - October, 22-23


NOAA Coastal Services Center








    National Fish Habitat Board   
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 10


Kelly Hepler, Chair National Fish 
Habitat Board  Alaska Dept. of Fish & 
Game 333 Raspberry Rd Anchorage, 
AK 99518-1599 


Dear Kelly: 


On behalf of the Coastal Fish Habitat Partnerships (FHPs), we request that the National Fish Habitat Board send a letter 
to the Joint Ocean Commission Initiative, raising awareness of the role the FHPs in achieving National Ocean Policy goals 
and lending support to their recent report, Charting the Course: Securing the Future of America’s Oceans. 


Recommendations 1.1 and 1.3 of the report, noted under Actions One and Three, are as follows: 


• Action One: Enhance the resiliency of coastal communities and ocean ecosystems to dramatic changes underway
in our oceans and on our coasts


Recommendation 1.1 articulates that the Administration and Congress should boost funding and support for
programs that protect and restore critical coastal features, such as wetlands, dune systems, mangroves, salt
marshes, seagrass beds, and coral reefs, all of which provide valuable services, including buffering against storm
surges, purifying water, providing habitat for important species, and offering recreational opportunities.


• Action Three: Support state and regional ocean and coastal priorities


Recommendation 3.1 articulates that the Administration and Congress should strongly support multi-state regional
ocean partnerships that coordinate data and decision making across jurisdictions, make progress on shared
priorities, and more effectively engage ocean and coastal stakeholders. This will allow states to build on current
progress toward improved decision-making about coastal and ocean resources and priority economic drivers.


Should Congress or the Administration advance these recommendations, our coastal FHPs and/or our individual partners 
could receive increased funding for both on-the-ground restoration projects and operations. 


We propose that the Coastal FHPs be considered as agents in implementing these two recommendations, in partnership 
with state and federal agencies, and other organizations.  As you know, the Coastal FHPs have catalyzed Federal, State, 
conservation organizations, Tribes, and local support to conduct scientific research including fish habitat assessments; 
secure, leverage, and distribute resources for on-the-ground coastal fish habitat restoration projects;  coordinate the 
communication and sharing of information; and develop decision support tools and strategic planning documents.  With 
a proven track record of advancing coastal fish habitat conservation, we are well qualified to effectively and successfully 
implement these particular recommendations. 


Thank you for your consideration and support. 


Sincerely, 


Lisa DeBruyckere, Coordinator Pacific Marine and Estuarine FHP and California Fish Passage Forum 
Scott Robinson, Coordinator, Southeast Aquatic Resources Partnership  
Gordon Smith, Coordinator Hawaii FHP 
Glen Elison, Southwest Alaska Salmon FHP 
Jessica Speed, Mat-Su Basin FHP 
Robert Ruffner, Kenai Peninsula FHP 
Debbie Hart, Southeast Alaska FHP 
Robin Knox, Coordinator Western Native Trout Initiative 
Emily Greene, Coordinator Atlantic Coastal FHP  


Please note that this proposed action and letter is currently under review by the Coastal Fish Habitat Partnerships. 







    National Fish Habitat Board   
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 10 
Mr. William Ruckelshaus and Mr. Norman Mineta, Co-Chairs Joint Ocean 
Commission Initiative 
The Meridian Institute 
1920 L Street NW, Suite 500 
Washington, DC 
20036


Co-Chairs Ruckelshaus and Mineta: 


On behalf of the National Fish Habitat Partnership, I would like to commend the Commission for its work catalyzing 
ocean policy reform and action at the national, regional, state and, and local levels  and would like to lend its support of 
your recently published report, Charting the Course: Securing the Future of America’s Oceans.  Of particular interest and 
Coastal FHP alignment are Recommendation 1.1 and Recommendation 1.3, noted under Actions One and Three, as 
follows: 


• Action One: Enhance the resiliency of coastal communities and ocean ecosystems to dramatic changes underway
in our oceans and on our coasts


Recommendation 1.1 articulates that the Administration and Congress should boost funding and support for
programs that protect and restore critical coastal features, such as wetlands, dune systems, mangroves, salt
marshes, seagrass beds, and coral reefs, all of which provide valuable services, including buffering against storm
surges, purifying water, providing habitat for important species, and offering recreational opportunities.


• Action Three: Support state and regional ocean and coastal priorities


Recommendation 3.1 articulates that the Administration and Congress should strongly support multi-state regional
ocean partnerships that coordinate data and decision making across jurisdictions, make progress on shared
priorities, and more effectively engage ocean and coastal stakeholders. This will allow states to build on current
progress toward improved decision-making about coastal and ocean resources and priority economic drivers.


We propose that the coastal Fish Habitat Partnerships be considered agents in implementing these recommendations, in 
partnership with state and federal agencies, and NOAA-recognized regional ocean partnerships.   


A total of 10 of the 19 nationally recognized Fish Habitat Partnerships (FHP) help to protect, restore, and enhance fish 
habitats in coastal marine environments, including the Atlantic Coastal FHP,  the Southeast Aquatic Resources 
Partnership, the Hawaii FHP, the Southwest Alaska Salmon FHP, theMat-Su Basin FHP, the Kenai Peninsula FHP, the 
Southeast Alaska FHP, the Western Native Trout Initiative, the California Fish Passage Forum, and the Pacific Marine and 
Estuarine FHP. 


These Coastal FHPs have catalyzed Federal, State, conservation organizations, Tribes, and local support to conduct 
scientific research including fish habitat assessments; secure, leverage, and distribute resources for on-the-ground 
coastal fish habitat restoration projects;  coordinate the communication and sharing of information; and develop 
decision support tools and strategic planning documents.  With a proven track record of conducting multiple aspects of 
coastal fish habitat conservation, these FHPs are well qualified to effectively and successfully implement these particular 
recommendations. 


Thank you for your consideration and support. 


Sincerely, 


Kelly Hepler, Chair 
National Fish Habitat Partnership 


Please note that this proposed action and letter is currently under review by the Coastal Fish Habitat Partnerships. 








National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 11


1


Jeff Benoit
President


October 23, 2013
jbenoit@estuaries.org


1


A Unique Model Of A Unique Model Of 
How a National Organization How a National Organization 
Fosters Local OnFosters Local On--TheThe--Ground Ground 


ResultsResults


2


Restore America’s Restore America’s 
EstuariesEstuaries


Established in 1995 as an alliance of Established in 1995 as an alliance of 


eleven local, nonprofit, nongovernmental eleven local, nonprofit, nongovernmental 


organizations working to preserve the organizations working to preserve the 


nation's estuaries by protecting and nation's estuaries by protecting and 


restoring the lands and waters essential to restoring the lands and waters essential to 


the richness and diversity of coastal life the richness and diversity of coastal life 


3







2


RESTORE AMERICA’S ESTUARIES


4


StrategicStrategic VisionVision


To use our To use our national capacity national capacity to to 
empower our member organizations empower our member organizations to to 
increase the scale and pace of coastal increase the scale and pace of coastal 
habitat restoration, and to habitat restoration, and to act as the act as the 
cohesive force and guiding beacon cohesive force and guiding beacon for for 


coastal and estuarine habitat coastal and estuarine habitat 
restoration across the country.restoration across the country.


5


Why We Care… Why We Care… 
HistoricHistoric LossesLosses


•• San Francisco Bay San Francisco Bay -- 95% of wetlands95% of wetlands


•• Coastal Louisiana Coastal Louisiana -- 25 sq. miles yearly25 sq. miles yearly


•• Galveston Bay Galveston Bay -- 85% of sea grasses85% of sea grasses


•• Chesapeake Bay Chesapeake Bay -- oyster harvests fell oyster harvests fell 
from 25 to 1 million lbs in 30 yearsfrom 25 to 1 million lbs in 30 years


•• Gulf of Maine Gulf of Maine -- 80% drop in Atlantic 80% drop in Atlantic 
Salmon spawning in Maine’s riversSalmon spawning in Maine’s rivers


•• Tampa Bay Tampa Bay –– 50% 50% seagrassseagrass bedsbeds


•• Puget Sound’s Puget Sound’s -- 80% of tidal wetlands80% of tidal wetlands


•• National loss = 5 Everglades National loss = 5 Everglades NatlNatl ParksParks


6


National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 11







National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 11


3


Puget Sound
•Remove invasives
•Intertidal flats
•Sound stewards


Gulf of Maine
•Intertidal habitat
•Tidal flushing


Hudson-Raritan
•Salt marsh
•Fish ladder
•Oysters/shellfish


Narragansett Bay
•Salt marsh
•Eelgrass
•Fish run


Long Island Sound
•Salt marsh
•Fish run
•Eelgrass


Chesapeake Bay
•Living shoreline
•Oyster restoration
•Underwater grasses


North Carolina Coast
•North River Farm
•Oyster restoration


Tampa Bay
•Oyster reefs
•Salt marsh


Louisiana Coast
•Restore Wetlands
•Bayou restoration 


Galveston Bay
•Oyster gardening
•Restore eelgrass


San Francisco Bay
•Invasive removal
•Native oysters
•Eelgrass


Restoration TypesRestoration Types


7


OnOn--TheThe--Ground SuccessGround Success


••Completed more than 900 projectsCompleted more than 900 projects
••Over 260,000 volunteersOver 260,000 volunteers
••Partnered with over 1,600Partnered with over 1,600
organizations, agencies and businessesorganizations, agencies and businesses


••Restored and protected in excess ofRestored and protected in excess of
65,000 acres of coastal habitat65,000 acres of coastal habitat
••Opened more than 170 stream miles toOpened more than 170 stream miles to
fish passagefish passage


8


Our Corporate Model Our Corporate Model 


•• Single focus Single focus –– Coastal habitat Coastal habitat 
restorationrestoration


•• Clear objective Clear objective –– OnOn--thethe--ground ground 
restorationrestoration


•• National buying powerNational buying power


•• Directly serve our eleven organizationsDirectly serve our eleven organizations


9







National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 11


4


Strategic Elements Strategic Elements 


•• Guided by Guided by ED’sED’s of our elevenof our eleven


organizationsorganizations


•• Administrative efficiencyAdministrative efficiency


•• Small but skilled staffSmall but skilled staff


•• Engage local citizensEngage local citizens


•• Tangible/visible outcomesTangible/visible outcomes


10


Our Sphere of Work…Our Sphere of Work…


• Increase federal appropriationsIncrease federal appropriations
•• Influence federal policiesInfluence federal policies
•• Seek and maintain partnershipsSeek and maintain partnerships
•• Convene national communityConvene national community
•• Promote successesPromote successes
••Administer special funds (TBERF)Administer special funds (TBERF)
•• Identify and address emergingIdentify and address emerging
issuesissues


11


It’s All About Partnerships…It’s All About Partnerships…


••NOAA, NOAA, DOIDOI, , EPA, NRCS, EPA, NRCS, USACEUSACE


••AnheuserAnheuser‐‐Busch Busch CompaniesCompanies
••EsriEsri
••Cheniere Cheniere EnergyEnergy
••EarthShareEarthShare ‐‐ Combined Combined Federal Federal CampaignCampaign
••EntergyEntergy
••Sea Sea World World Busch Busch Gardens Gardens Conservation Conservation FundFund
••The The Clayton Clayton Fund, Fund, Inc.Inc.
••The The Gage Gage Fund, Fund, Inc.Inc.
••LightHawkLightHawk


12







National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 11


5


Inspiring Action, Creating ResilienceInspiring Action, Creating Resilience
7th National Conference on Coastal and Estuarine Habitat Restoration7th National Conference on Coastal and Estuarine Habitat Restoration


andand
24th Biennial Meeting of The Coastal Society24th Biennial Meeting of The Coastal Society


Learn… 
Teach… 
Share…


November 1-5, 2013
Washington, DC


13


And convening…And convening…


14


National Estuaries WeekNational Estuaries Week
••25 Senators Cosponsoring Resolution 25 Senators Cosponsoring Resolution RecognizingRecognizing


National Estuaries WeekNational Estuaries Week


••Over 25 opOver 25 op--edseds, editorials, news articles, editorials, news articles, and media, and media


advisoriesadvisories


••936,191 Social Medial Impressions 936,191 Social Medial Impressions includingincluding


#EstuariesWeek#EstuariesWeek
••Over Over 15,463 volunteers15,463 volunteers and citizens were directlyand citizens were directly


engaged in a combined engaged in a combined 222,712 hours of  service222,712 hours of  service


15


And identifying emerging issues…And identifying emerging issues…


•Economics of  habitat restorationEconomics of  habitat restoration


••Advance Blue CarbonAdvance Blue Carbon


••Living shorelines (Living shorelines (MidMid--Atlantic LivingAtlantic Living


Shorelines    Summit)Shorelines    Summit)


••Coastal waters acidificationCoastal waters acidification







National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 11


6


“There can be no purpose “There can be no purpose 
more inspiring than to more inspiring than to 
begin the age of begin the age of 
restoration, reweaving the restoration, reweaving the 
wondrous diversity of life wondrous diversity of life 
that still surrounds us.”that still surrounds us.”


-- E.O.E.O. WilsonWilson


16












Draft 2014 Board Budget 
This document provides some information to help relate expenses presented in the 2014 draft budget to 
(1) the National Fish Habitat Action Plan, 2nd  Edition and to (2) board and committee priorities.   Specific 
budget notes are provided to help clarify spending plans. 


Relationship of Budget to 2nd Edition Action Plan 
Objective 1.  Achieve measurable habitat conservation results through strategic actions of Fish Habitat 
Partnerships that improve ecological condition, restore natural processes, or prevent the decline of 
intact and healthy systems leading to better fish habitat conditions and increased fishing opportunities. 
Activity: 2014 Multi-state Conservation Grant 
Funding:  $344,500 
Lead Committee or Partner:  AFWA 
This funding will be used to support specific deliverables from FHPs for both conservation (Objectives 1 
and 2) and science and data (Objective 4) needs.  AFWA will sub-award funds to five regional 
organizations to support projects conducted by FHPs.  We are working with the FHPs to revise the 
allocations to the five regions based on the reduction in this grant budget from $544,500 to $344,500. 


Objective 2.  Establish a consensus set of national conservation strategies as a framework to guide 
future actions and investment by FHPs by 2013. 
Activity:  Provide guidance to Fish Habitat Partnerships for establishing conservation priorities; further 
develop NFH Board’s National Conservation Strategies;  and develop cost estimates for achieving the 
conservation priorities of FHPs. 
Funding:  TBD 
Lead Committee or Partner:  Partnership Committee 
The Partnership Committee will work with the Board to develop a plan that addresses the need to 
identify specific conservation priorities at both the FHP and Board levels.  The anticipated outcome from 
this exercise is improved balance in habitat investment that meets both the discrete needs identified by 
the FHPs and the national-level priorities sought by Board members. 


Objective 3.  Broaden the community of support for fish habitat conservation by increasing fishing 
opportunities, fostering the participation of local communities—especially young people—in 
conservation activities, and raising public awareness of the role healthy fish habitats play in the quality 
of life and economic well-being of local communities. 
Activity:  Communications 
Funding:  $140,250 
Lead Committee or Partner:  AFWA 
This objective is anticipated to be a continued heavy emphasis for Ryan Roberts and the 
Communications Committee in 2014.  They will continue to focus on increasing the size of the Partner 
Coalition, the Partnership’s grassroots network.  It is anticipated that we will continue to attend events 
with the express purpose of soliciting new members for the Partner Coalition; improve the management 
and maintenance of the Partner Coalition database; increase the level of communications to the Partner 
Coalition; further the Partnership’s social media efforts; and increase the use of video in grassroots 


National Fish Habitat Board
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 12







2 | Page 
Draft 2014 Board Budget Supporting Information v1 
Oct 2013 


network development.   Finally, this focus area will also include Ryan’s work on the Partnership’s awards 
program.  Other communications needs included are NFHP annual update; media outreach;  website 
hosting, maintenance, and improvements. 


Activity:  FHP Development 
Funding:  $40,000 
Lead Committee or Partner: AFWA and Partnership Committee 
The investment made over the past two-years in FHP organizational development is creating dividends 
in individual FHP operations and in building a network of FHP coordinators and steering committee 
members.  We recommend investing $35,000 in a retainer-type agreement with River Network staff to 
continue organizational development and network building services to the FHPs.    In addition, we 
allocate $5000 from state-provided funds towards the Board’s previously approved investment in the 
501(c)(3) start-up costs. 


Objective 4.  Fill gaps in the National Fish Habitat Assessment and its associated database to empower 
strategic conservation action supported by broadly available scientific information, and integrate socio-
economic data in the analysis to improve people’s lives in a manner consistent with fish habitat 
conservation goals. 
Activity:  Catalog and review current assessment activities underway by the FHPs, LCCs, and the national 
assessment teams, and host a Science and Data Committee meeting to focus on FHP Assessment efforts 
and to review progress on the National Fish Habitat Assessment. 
Funding:  $20,000  
Lead Committee or Partner:  Science and Data Committee 


Activity:  Develop detailed socioeconomic data and analyses to improve conservation planning abilities 
of the Board and FHPs.   
Funding:  $35,000 
Lead Committee or Partner:  Science and Data Committee 


Activity:  Develop new science and data products from existing and new Fish Habitat Partnership 
assessment databases to further support FHP habitat analysis and the Board’s 2015 National Fish 
Habitat Assessment.  Key FHP datasets will be identified by the Science and Data Committee and these 
data along with appropriate analytical tools will be integrated into the Board’s Data System for wider 
inter-FHP habitat assessment efforts.  Funds will support additional GIS specialist time to integrate FHP 
datasets and develop associated analytical tools. 
Funding:  $70,000 
Lead Committee or Partner:  Science and Data Committee 


Objective 5.  Communicate the conservation outcomes produced collectively by Fish Habitat 
Partnerships, as well as new opportunities and voluntary approaches for conserving fish habitat, to the 
public and conservation partners. 
Activity:  10 Waters to Watch.  This program is our principal public outreach campaign and is designed 
to call attention to the work of the FHPs and the NFHP.  We will develop a long-term campaign plan that 
expands the program and implement portions of the plan for the 2014 cycle.  
Funding:  $30,000 
Lead Committee or Partner:  Communications Committee 


National Fish Habitat Board
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 12







National Fish Habitat Board
DRAFT 2014 Budget v1


REVENUES
Program Income 744,500.00$  
Carryover 196,930.00$  
SUBTOTAL 941,430.00$  


EXPENSES
Coordination of Board and FHPs
Salaries and Benefits (36,068.00)$  
Travel - BoD (19,000.00)$  
Travel - Staff (12,000.00)$  
Supplies -$  
Contractual to FHPs (369,432.00)$  
Consultants (Effectiveness Measures) -$  
FHP Org Development Needs (40,000.00)$  
SUBTOTAL (476,500.00)$  
Communications
Website (2,750.00)$  
Salaries and Benefits (104,500.00)$  
Awards (2,500.00)$  
Annual Report (1,500.00)$  
Communications Products (9,000.00)$  
Telephone (1,500.00)$  
Travel - Staff General (5,500.00)$  
Travel - Program: Expand Grassroots Outreach (5,000.00)$  
Contractual (38,000.00)$  
SUBTOTAL (170,250.00)$  
Science & Data
Science Assistance to FHPs (70,000.00)$  
MSU Assessment -$  
Socioeconomic Data Needs (35,000.00)$  
Travel - Staff and S&D Committee (32,000.00)$  
SUBTOTAL (137,000.00)$  
TOTAL DIRECT (783,750.00)$  


Sequester at 11 percent (33,000.00)$  
IDC at 10% (70,925.00)$  
TOTAL INDIRECT (103,925.00)$  
NET 53,755.00$  


National Fish Habitat Board
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 12





		2014 Draft Budget v1

		Summary

		National Fish Habitat Board Draft 2014 Budget v1 Justification.pdf

		Relationship of Budget to 2nd Edition Action Plan












1School of Agricultural, Forest, and Environmental Sciences, Clemson University, Clemson, SC, USA 
2South Carolina Department of Natural Resources, Clemson, SC, USA 


A web-based decision support tool for forecasting the  
biological condition of South Carolina streams 


Samuel T Esswein1, Cathy A Marion2, Mark C Scott2, Christopher J Post1, Robert F Baldwin1 


Overview 


The web-based South Carolina Stream Conservation Planning tool enables 
a spatially explicit understanding of how human activities affect the 
biological condition of wadeable streams.  A web mapping application 
allows users to visualize predicted biological conditions based on their 
status and severity across all South Carolina wadeable stream catchments.  
Additionally, an interactive catchment management tool allows users to 
explore and forecast the impacts of customized land management 
scenarios on aquatic resource indicators at any user-specified location 
across South Carolina.    


Acknowledgements 
This work was supported by grants from the US Fish & Wildlife Service 
(F12AF01417) and matching funds from South Carolina Department of 
Natural Resources (SCDNR). SC Stream Assessment data collection 
performed by: Kevin kubach, Troy Cribb, William Poly, Andrew Gelder, 
Jeremy Pike, Alan Jones, Andrew Sayer, Molly Keaton, Jace Johnston, 
Annemarieke DeVlamming, Seth Mycko, Cory Guinn, Greg Satterfield, and 
Brandon Seda. Computing support provided by SCDNR IT/GIS and David 
White with Clemson Computing and Information Technology. 


References 


Background 


 South Carolina Stream Assessment 


Modeling Methods 


 Software Components 


 Abstract 


 Objectives 
1. Develop models using data collected during the South 


Carolina Stream Assessment to identify primary factors 
influencing ecological condition 


2. Extrapolate models across state using National Fish 
Habitat Assessment data and create prediction maps of 
current biological condition statewide 


3. Forecast biological response to alternative catchment 
management scenarios  


The South Carolina Department of Natural Resources (SCDNR) in 
conjunction with Clemson University initiated a comprehensive 
assessment of South Carolina’s wadeable streams in 2006 to determine the 
status of native fish assemblages and aquatic resources throughout the 
state.  The assessment of nearly 500 wadeable streams was completed in 
2011, with a collection of biological, chemical, physical, and landscape-
level data necessary to support proactive decision making with respect to 
aquatic resources in the state (Figure 


Software Methods 


Conservation Tool Development 


Map Viewer displays “static” predictions for 
South Carolina catchments based on 
extrapolations from random forest models. Each 
published predictive model includes a detailed 
report describing response variable construction, 
random forest model results, model 
performance, and error metrics. 


Predicted biological 
condition maps 


• Users can select catchments that drain an 
area of less then 150 sq km (wadeable). 


• Anthropogenic variables that influence the 
model outcome are displayed. 


• Users adjust these parameters using a 
sliding scale. 


• Multiple catchments may be modified. 


Catchment modification  


• The software recalculates attribute 
values for each selected catchment 
and conducts a downstream analysis 
(until 150sq km drainage limit is met). 


• All catchments impacted by 
modifications are returned to the user 
and displayed in the map.  


• Users have access to prediction 
results for 24 hours and may export 
results in csv, or JSON formats.  


Alternative management 
scenarios and 
downstream analysis  


Web based data 
management 
• Upload prediction datasets. 
• Upload predictive models 
• Set the attributes the user can modify 


(typically anthropogenic) 
• Enter detailed model report as PDF 
• Upload a n R serialized model using the 


native ‘RDS’ format. 


Discussion 


 Data-driven Stream Conservation 


 Dynamic Prediction & Performance 
• Round trip for prediction is ~1s. 


 


• Predictions are isolated into worker tasks and can execute 
concurrently. 
 


• The backend repository uses the Redis data structure store. The 
repository is accessed via a resource application programming 
interface (API) that follows the REST software architecture 
recommendations. 
 


• The retrieval of catchment data occurs in constant time O(1). This 
allows the coverage area to expand to larger geographic areas with 
minimal performance penalty. 


 
 


Future Work 
• Continued expansion of biological response variables 


 


• Support additional prediction datasets 
 


• Software available for integration by additional universities, state and 
federal agencies 


 


Public Deployment in August 2013 
http://www.dnr.sc.gov 


 Data 
1. We create biological response variables using SC Stream Assessment 


Data. These response variables are designed to reflect 
biological/aquatic health, and respond to anthropogenic stressors. 
 


2. We associate our biological response variables with NHDPlus and 
National Fish Habitat Assessment (NFHA) spatial predictor data (USEPA 
and USGS 2005, Wang et al. 2011) 


 
 


We used Random Forests with the R statistical software to: 
 
1) Determine the most important spatial predictor variables that influence our 


biological response variables (Figure 3). Each predictor variable has a known 
functional response relationship with the biological outcome (Figure 4). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
1) Model extrapolation to map current biological condition across state (Figure 


5)  
 


3) We can forecast the biological impacts of anthropogenic alteration to 
any given catchment, and its downstream network (Figure 6)  


Upstate Stream Coastal Plain  Stream 


Fieryblack Shiner Lowland Shiner 


• The Southeastern U.S. has suffered long-term declines in native aquatic 
species, primarily resulting from stream habitat alterations related to 
human landscape alterations 
 


• Proper data collection and statistical analyses can drive science-based 
conservation recommendations, guiding landscape decision-making 
activities down a sustainable path 
 


• Website and tools publically available to decision-makers at all levels 
 


• Potential uses include: municipal and county governments land 
planning and permitting; state agency permitting, land acquisition and 
management activities; federal agency land and resource 
management; non-governmental organizations with land management 
and/or advocacy responsibilities   
 


Figure 2. SC Stream Assessment Data Collection Locations 


Modeled 
Relationships 


Predict for all 
Catchments 


Anthropogenic alteration 


Predicted Downstream 
Result 


2). Sample locations were selected 
with a known probability using a 
multistage design from a list frame of 
all stream segments in the state, 
stratified by ecobasin and stream 
size. This site selection procedure 
insured independence among 
samples and allowed for statistically 
defensible estimates of statewide 
aquatic resource parameters.  


Figure 1. SC stream assessment  
data collection locations 


Figure 3. Variable Importance Plot Figure 4. Partial Dependence Plot 


Figure 5. Observed and predicted biological condition 


Figure 6. Downstream prediction based on anthropogenic alteration 


Figure 8. Attribute Display 


 Downstream Calculation 
Two variable spatial scales: 
• ‘LOCAL’ is a summary of the 


immediate catchment.  
• ‘CATCHMENT’ is a summary of 


the catchment watershed. 
 


A ‘CATCHMENT’ variables requires 
that values are dynamically 
recalculated from upstream 
‘LOCAL’ modifications. These 
changes are propagated 
downstream.  


Breiman, L. 2001. Random Forests. Machine Learning 45:5-32. 
 
 


R Core Team. 2012. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. 
R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. ISBN 3-900051-07-0, 
URL http://www.R-project.org/. 


L. Wang , D. Infante , P. Esselman , A. Cooper , D. Wu , W. Taylor , D. Beard , G. 
Whelan and  A. Ostroff. 2011. A Hierarchical Spatial Framework and Database for 
the National River Fish Habitat Condition Assessment. Fisheries 36(9): 436-449 


U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and U.S. Geological Survey (USEPA and USGS). 
2005. National hydrography dataset plus, NHDPlus Version 1.0. www.horizon-
systems.com/nhdplus/. 


Spatial Data 
Server 


 
• ArcGIS Server 10.1 


Resource 
API 


 
 


Conservation  
Planning Tool 


 


Data 
Manager 


Client 
 


• Web Browser 
Client 


• HTML5 Required 


Se
rv


e
r 


C
lie


n
t 


Figure 7. Software Components 


Utilizes client- and server-side 
components (Figure 7). Dynamic 
‘R’ prediction occurs on the server 
utilizing task parallelism. This 
allows simultaneous computation 
of predictions to occur.  
 
Client-side components use 
HTML5 and Javascript, run 
entirely in web browser. 
 



http://www.dnr.sc.gov






National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 1a 


National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
October 22-23, 2012 Draft Agenda and Board Book Tabs 


South Carolina Marine Resources Center (SC DNR)
 217 Fort Johnson Road, Charleston SC 29412


Conference line:  866-299-7945, Participant code: 7457786#
Web link:  http://www.mymeetings.com/nc/join.php?sigKey=mymeetings&i=749207290&p=habitat&t=c 


Tuesday, October 22 


8:30 – 8:45 


8:45-9:00 


Welcome and Introductions 


Housekeeping 
Desired outcomes: 
• Board action to approve draft agenda and draft June


meeting minutes. 
• Board review of future meeting schedules.


Tab 1a 


Tab 1b 


 Alvin Taylor, (Director, SC 
Department of Natural 
Resources) 


Jeff Payne, (Deputy Directory, 
NOAA Coastal Services Center) 


Kelly Hepler (Board  Chair-AK 
Dept. of Fish and Game) 


9:00-9:30 Chair Updates 
Desired outcome: 
• Discussion on Chair’s Landscape Conservation


Cooperative National Council role. 
• Discussion on AFWA NFHP Resolution.


Tab 2a 


Tab 2b 


Kelly Hepler (Board  Chair-AK 
Dept. of Fish and Game) 


9:30-10:00 ELT Update 
Desired outcome: 
• Discussion on federal agency engagement
• Discussion on Board's role in communicating NFHP


performance and contribution to conservation.


Kelly Hepler, (Board  Chair-AK 
Dept. of Fish and Game) 


10:00-10:30 


10:30- 10:45 


Board Performance Evaluation 
Desired outcome:  
• Board action to approve evaluation plan.


Break 


Tab 3 Tom Busiahn (Board Staff, 
FWS) 


10:45-11:00 Conservation Committee Report 
Desired outcomes: 
• Informational update on moving towards conservation


target setting. 
• Board Action to request the Federal Caucus to report


on how federal agency projects meet the NFHP national 
set of conservation strategies.   


Tab 4 Tom Busiahn, (Board Staff, 
FWS) & Gary Whelan (Board 
Staff – MI Dept. of Natural 
Resources) 



http://www.mymeetings.com/nc/join.php?sigKey=mymeetings&i=749207290&p=habitat&t=c





National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 1a 


11:00-11:20 Funding Committee Report 
Desired outcome: 
• Informational update to the Board on committee


accomplishments towards meeting 2013 priorities, 
priority issues and funding needs for 2014. 


Krystyna Wolniakowski (Board 
Member – NFWF) 


11:20-11:40 Partnership Committee Report 
Desired outcome: 
• Informational update to the Board on committee


accomplishments towards meeting 2013 priorities, 
priority issues and funding needs for 2014. 


Tab 5 Stephen Perry (EBTJV) 


11:40-12:10 Science and Data Committee Report 
Desired outcome: 
• Informational update to the Board on committee


accomplishments towards meeting 2013 priorities, 
priority issues and funding needs for 2014. 


• Informational update on Committee membership.


Tab 6 Andrea Ostroff (Board Staff-
USGS) & Gary Whelan (Board 
Staff – MI Dept. of Natural 
Resources) 


12:10-1:15 Lunch (On-site, with FWS Fish ARDs) 


1:15-2:00 Communications Committee Report 
Desired outcomes: 
• Informational update to the Board on committee


accomplishments towards meeting 2013 priorities, 
priority issues and funding needs for 2014. 


• Recommendations to the Board on next steps in
marketing NFHP in the private sector. 


Tab 7 


Tab 7a 


Ryan Roberts (Board Staff- 
AFWA) 


Joe Starinchak (FWS) 


2:00-2:45 Status and Trends of Wetlands in the Coastal Watersheds of 
the Conterminous United States, 2004-2009 
Desired outcome: 
• Informational update on the Report’s findings.
• Discussion on potential Board action.


Susan Marie Stedman (NMFS) 
Tom Dahl (FWS) 


2:45-3:00 


3:00-5:00 


Break 


Joint Session with FWS ARDs 
Desired outcome: 
• Informational update on FWS funding allocation.
• Discussion on NFHP’s role in the FWS strategic plan.
• Discussion on strengthening FWS NFHP


communications.
• Broadening NFHP support beyond FWS funds
• Discussion on future group engagement with federal


agency regional leadership.


Tab 8 Kelly Hepler (Board Chair) 
David Hoskins (FWS Asst. 
Director, Fish and Aquatic 
Conservation) 







National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 1a 


6:00 – 7:00 Social Hour – Charleston Beer Works - 
http://charlestonbeerworks.com/   
468 King Street Charleston, SC 29403 


Wednesday, October 23 


8:30-9:00 


9:00-9:30 


Legislative Affairs 
Desired outcome: 
• Informational update on the National Fish Habitat


Conservation Act 


501 (c)(3) update 
Desired outcome:  
• Informational update on progress to date, next steps,


and timeline in developing a non-profit to support 
NFHP. 


Tab 9 


Steve Moyer (Board 
Member – Trout 
Unlimited) 


Matt Menashes 
(Board Staff-AFWA) 


9:30-10:00 Presentation - FHP Economic Evaluation Tool 
Desired outcome: 
• Informational Update providing overview of an


economic evaluation tool for the FHPs to utilize in 
determining value of conservation activities.     


Brad Gentner (Board 
member - CCA) 


10:00-10:30 


10:30-10:45 


10:45-11:00 


11:00-11:30 


Joint Ocean Commission Initiative Charting the Course – 
Securing the Future 
Desired Outcome:  
• Board action on a draft letter to the JOCI and Congress


supporting NFHP’s role in achieving outcomes in the 
report.  


Break 


Presentation - Restore America’s Estuaries 
Desired Outcome:  
• Informational update on potential partnership


opportunities and overlap 


Partnership Presentation  
Desired outcome: 
• Informational update on the accomplishments and


challenges facing the Ohio River Basin Fish Habitat 
Partnership 


Tab 10 


Tab 11 


Stan Allen (Board 
member, PSMFC) 


Jeff Benoit (RAE 
President) 


Donovan Henry (FWS, 
-Ohio River Basin Fish 
Habitat Partnership) 



http://charlestonbeerworks.com/





National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 1a 


11:30-12:30 Board 2014 Priorities and Draft Budget 
Desired outcomes: 
• Informational update on the 2013 Multistate


Conservation Grants in place and the 2014 grants. 
• Informational update on draft budget (full budget


voted on in January) 
• Board discussion on list of proposed 2014 Board


Priorities 


Tab 12 Matt Menashes 
(Board Staff-AFWA) 


12:30     Board Meeting Adjourns 


12:30-1:15 Lunch (On-site)    Mark Scott, Ph.D. 
Lunch Presentation (15 Minutes):           (SC DNR)         
South Carolina Stream Conservation Tool: 
A Statewide Tool Developed Using NFHP Assessment Data 


1:30-5:00 Field Trip hosted by SC DNR 
Location: 
South Carolina Marine Resources Center, 217 Fort Johnson Road, 
(just a few miles from the NOAA Coastal Services Center).   


Overview: 
Board members are expected to arrive at the Marine Resources Center at 1:30 pm and will be given a brief 
overview of some of the South Carolina DNR’s intertidal fish habitat work with oyster reefs.  Field Trip 
attendees will then hit the water aboard the E/V Discovery for a field visit to some representative sites 
where SC DNR  have deployed various techniques to enhance fish habitat in Charleston Harbor.    


5:00– 7:00      Social Hour and light dinner hosted by SC DNR 


Additional Information: 
• Board Member Contacts: http://fishhabitat.org/contacts/board
• NFHP Staff Contacts: http://fishhabitat.org/contacts/staff


Tab 13



http://www.dnr.sc.gov/marine/mrri/directions.html

http://fishhabitat.org/contacts/board

http://fishhabitat.org/contacts/staff





National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


               Tab 1a  


 
 
National Fish Habitat Board Meeting Minutes, June 25-26, 2013 in Salt Lake City, Utah 
Members present: 
Kelly Hepler, chairman (ADF&G)    Leroy Young (NEAFWA)                   Stan Allen (PSMFC)                                    
Mike Stone (WAFWA)                     Sam Rauch (NOAA Fisheries)          Doug Boyd (SFBPC) 
Bob Mahood (SAFMC)                    Ellen Gilinsky (EPA)                          Anne Zimmerman (USDA FS)                   
Joe Larscheid (MAFWA)                 Rowan Gould (FWS)                         Stan Moberly (AFS) 
Mike Andrews (TNC)                       Chris Horton (CSF)                           Steve Moyer (TU) – 2nd day only                            
 
Members participating by telephone: 
Dale Jones (for Nick Wiley, SEAFWA)                         Libby Yranski (for Gordon Robertson, ASA) 
Members absent: 
Ron Regan (AFWA)                         Krystyna Wolniakowski (NFWF)        Fred Matt (NAFWS) 
Brad Gentner (CCA) 
Motions approved: 


• Minutes of February 2013 meeting – approved with correction to title, change “conference call” to 
“meeting” 
 


• Appointment of Mike Andrews as vice-chair – approved 
 


• Board Meeting schedule:  Board members support reducing face-to-face meetings from 3/year to 
2/year starting in 2014.  The summer meeting will be replaced by a web or video conference.  
One meeting should be in the DC area, and one should provide opportunity to meet partners and 
view a field project. 
 


• Establishment of a not-for-profit corporation – approved with Federal members abstaining 
The National Fish Habitat Partnership staff is charged with working to establish a 501(c)(3) not-for-profit corporation using 
a phased, check-in approach. A workgroup of Board members is created to work with staff on this project. The workgroup 
is charged with oversight and with approval for moving to each step.  
Staff shall work with partners to minimize the start-up costs for the corporation, but may use non-federal funds not to 
exceed $5,000 to complete the incorporation and tax exemption. If additional funds are required, staff must request 
approval for that expenditure from the National Fish Habitat Board.  
The phased approach includes three steps:  


• Project initiation and document creation.  
• establish a board workgroup 
• draft and finalize articles of incorporation and bylaws  
• establish a name  
• Incorporation  
• secure a registered agent 
• secure a Federal Employer Identification Number 
• select the incorporators and the initial board of directors 
• adopt a governance model and record keeping system for official records 
• register with state unemployment bureau 
• obtain directors’ and officers’ liability insurance.  
• Tax exempt application.  
• submit a tax exemption request to secure group exemption for the new corporation and the FHPs 
• file for state and/or local tax exemptions  
• file for charitable solicitation 
• apply for non-profit mailing permit 


 
Updates and discussions: 


• March 2014 meeting:  The March 2014 meeting will be held in Denver to coordinate with the 
North American Wildlife & Natural Resources Conference (March 9-14) and AFS Fisheries 
Administration Section meeting.  The purpose is to connect with State fish chiefs and directors.  
Fish chiefs will be invited to present information on State habitat programs to the Board, and 







National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


               Tab 1a  
NFHP will have an informational booth at the North American. 


• Report from Executive Leadership Team:  Four Board members were due for membership review 
in 2013.  Bob Mahood has asked to transition off the Board; he will be replaced by Christopher 
Moore, Executive Director of the Mid-Atlantic Fishery Management Council.  Three Board 
members will be reappointed, and their seats assigned to the organization, not to an individual:  
American Sportfishing Association, The Nature Conservancy, and the Pacific States Marine 
Fisheries Commission. 


• Federal agency members:  Anne Zimmerman (USDA FS) will retire in August, so this is her final 
Board meeting.  The Board welcomes EPA (Dr. Ellen Gilinsky) as they rejoin the Board.  Another 
Federal agency will be invited to fill the 5th Federal seat on the Board.  A better strategy for 
engaging Federal agencies in NFHP is needed. 


• Partnership Committee:  A schedule for completing Task A is requested at the October meeting.  
(Task A:  Develop guidance that assists Fish Habitat Partnerships in establishing strategic 
priorities and processes that allow the partnerships to document milestones and targets that track 
progress and outcomes.) 


• 2014 FWS funding allocation process:  The Board requests that the Board and FHPs have an 
opportunity to review the decision before it is finalized by the FWS Director. 


• Multistate Conservation Grants:  The Board acknowledged that the MSCG program should be 
used to help fund Board and FHP operational needs.  The Board will communicate its annual 
priorities to the AFWA Fisheries & Water Resources Policy Committee so the needs can be 
considered when the National Conservation Need (NCN) is written.  MSCG funds are not enough 
to meet all needs, so the total needs of the Board and FHPs should be considered in funding 
efforts. 


• Evaluation of the Board:  Staff will present at detailed plan for a performance evaluation of the 
Board at the October meeting, taking into account Board discussion at this meeting.  Discussion 
focused on evaluating how the Board is functioning in an organizational capacity, and also on 
performance associated with meeting the goals of the 2nd Edition Action plan and forward looking 
strategic planning.  The Partnership Committee will serve as a sounding board in developing the 
plan. 


• Southeast Alaska (candidate) Fish Habitat Partnership:  SEAKFHP announced during their 
presentation that they will request full Board recognition in October 2013. 


• FHP organizational development:  FHPs have high leadership potential, but low fiscal diversity.  
Strategies and skills for raising private funds are needed.  Annual or bi-annual FHP meetings 
would help foster peer learning, perhaps in conjunction with the annual River Rally.  Staff will 
flesh out needs and ideas and bring them back to the Board. 


• Marine fisheries engagement:  The Board would like to build stronger relations with the 
commercial fishing sector; NOAA will help to do that through the regional Fishery Management 
Councils.  Required identification of Essential Fish Habitat (EFH) can complement NFHP’s efforts 
to link specific habitat conditions to specific outcomes for species and fisheries.  


• Corporate engagement:  Engaging corporations with the work of NFHP is very important, and will 
require defining NFHP’s unique value to align with private sector target audiences, and more 
effective branding to communicate that value. 


• Science and Data Committee:  Changes in Committee membership are nearly complete, 
reflecting needs for the future.  The Committee has assembled a catalog of habitat assessments 
from the FHPs.  A new version of the online Data System will be released in July, allowing FHPs 
to upload, document, and serve data through the national system. 


• Communications Committee:  Collaboration with vintners in the Grape Creek watershed in 
California is a good story that should get national exposure.  The Board would like to see 
continued tracking of Waters to Watch projects, and bigger strategic action on communicating 
successes and how we bring people together to conserve habitat. 


• FWS strategic visioning update:  The Sport Fishing and Boating Partnership Council has 
completed its recommendations on aquatic resource conservation in FWS, and is drafting a 
transmittal memo with higher-level recommendations.  A copy of the final report will be delivered 
to Board members. 


• National Fish Habitat Conservation Act:  The version of the bill that cleared the Senate committee 







National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


               Tab 1a  
in 2012 is expected to be introduced in the Senate as a marker.  Minor changes may be made to 
address concerns expressed last year by western ranching interests.  The legislative team is 
empowered to make minor changes for tactical purposes, but the Board would like to see any 
important language changes.  There is support for a tentative Capitol Hill briefing on NFHP. 


Action items:   
• Meet to identify a Federal agency to invite to fill the 5th Federal Board seat – ELT 
• Connect with NRCS to advance federal family engagement - Ellen 
• Draft Board member appointment letters to new and reappointed members, identifying the 


organization rather than the individual – Chris Meaney 
• Report on a schedule for completing Task A in 2013 work plan – Partnership Committee 
• Submit Multistate Conservation Grant full proposals, if invited – Board staff 
• Develop detailed plan for an evaluation of the Board’s performance – Tom Busiahn, advised by 


the Partnership Committee 
Future Board meetings: 


• October 22-23, Charleston, South Carolina 
• January 15, 2014 conference call 
• Week of March 9, 2014, Denver, Colorado (in conjunction with North American) 
• Late June 2014 (date TBD), web or video conference 
• October 21-22, 2014, Michigan (location TBD) 


Board approved documents:  None 
Additional attendees:  
Ryan Roberts, AFWA                     Gary Whelan, Michigan DNR              Matt Menashes, AFWA 
Tom Busiahn, FWS                        Jeff Boxrucker, RFHP                          Chris Savage, USDA FS 
Alesia Read, NOAA Fisheries        Maureen Gallagher, FWS                    Scott Roth, FWS 
Robin Knox, WNTI                         Tom Bigford, NOAA Fisheries              Dan Duffield, USDA FS 
Justin Jimenez, BLM                      Krissy Wilson, Utah DWR                    Pam Martin, Utah DWR 
 
By telephone: 
Andrea Ostroff, USGS                   Chris Meaney, NOAA Fisheries           Steven Krentz, FWS 
Doug Besler, EBTJV / NC WCR    Emily Greene, ACFHP                         Callie McMunigal, FWS 
 
 





		1_a

		Tab_1a_










National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 1b 


Meetings of the National Fish Habitat Board 2006-2015 


Proposed schedule of future Board meetings 2014-2015 
Year Date Location Comments 


33 2014 January 15 
(Wed) 


Teleconference Annual budget & priorities 


34 March 10-11 
(Tue-Wed) 


Denver Meet w/ State fish chiefs at North 
American 


35 June 25 (Wed) Teleconference / 
web conference 


Replaces summer in-person meeting 


36 October 21-22 
(Wed-Thu) 


Michigan FWS ARDs Oct 20-24 in Midwest 
Region 


37 2015 January 14 
(Wed) 


Teleconference Annual budget & priorities 


38 March 3-4 
(Tue-Wed) 


Washington DC 
area 


Reserve room at TNC HQ 


39 June 24 (Wed) Teleconference / 
web conference 


October 20-21 
(Tue-Wed) 


California or 
Nevada 


FWS ARDs Oct 19-23 in Region 8 
(California/Nevada) 


Record of past meetings 
Year Date Location Facility 


1 2006 September 22 Aspen, Colorado Hotel 
2 November 16 Washington, DC Hall of States 
3 2007 January 16 Teleconference 
4 March 1-2 Washington, DC Environmental Protection Agency 
5 June 6-7 Washington, DC Commerce Department 
6 October 2-3 Arlington, VA Hotel 
7 2008 February 20-21 St. Petersburg, FL Tampa Bay Watch 
8 May 13-14 Arlington, VA The Nature Conservancy 
9 October 7-8 Arlington, VA The Nature Conservancy 


10 2009 March 4-5 Harrisburg, PA Pennsylvania Fish & Boat Commission 
11 June 25, 2009 Leesburg, VA National Conference Center 
12 October 7-8 Arlington, VA The Nature Conservancy 
13 2010 January 15 Teleconference 
14 March 3-4 Memphis, TN Ducks Unlimited 
15 June 9-10 Silver Spring, MD NOAA headquarters 
16 August 25 Teleconference 
17 October 12-14 Portland, OR Columbia River Intertribal Fish. Comm. 
18 2011 January 13 Teleconference 
19 March 11 Teleconference 
20 April 12-13 Arlington, VA The Nature Conservancy 
21 July 26-27 Madison, WI Hotel 
22 October 19-20 Albuquerque, NM FWS Regional Office 
23 2012 January 12 Teleconference 







National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 1b 
 
24  March 1 Teleconference  
25  April 17-18 Arlington, VA The Nature Conservancy 
26  July 10-11 Portland, ME Hotel 
27  October 16-17 Ridgedale, MO Big Cedar Lodge 
28 2013 January 16 Teleconference  
29  February 26-27 Arlington, VA FWS headquarters 
30  April 15 Teleconference  
31  June 25-26 Salt Lake City, UT Utah State Capitol 
32  October 22-23 Charleston, SC NOAA Coastal Services Center 
 
 








LCC Network Organizational Structure 


LCC National Council 
-Coordination & Strategic Guidance 
-Federal; State; Tribal; NGO; LCCs; 
Major Partnerships; International. 


22 Individual LCCs 
-Steering Committee 
-Staff 
-Technical Committees 


LCC Network Operations 
-LCC Coordinators Team  
-Science Coordinators Team 
-Executive Committee 
-Work Groups 


National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 2a







LCC National Council Final Charter- 6/17/2013 1 


LCC National Council Charter 


Introduction 
Conservation challenges facing today’s natural and cultural heritage, including the impacts of climate 
change, are enormous. They represent a force of change more consequential than any previously 
encountered. The magnitude of the challenge is so unprecedented and great that it requires us to come 
together, harness our collective power and approach conservation in ways we never have before.  


Existing governance structures struggle with landscape-scale management and the multiple scales of 
collaboration and coordination required.  A network of 22 self-directed Landscape Conservation 
Cooperatives (LCC) was established to help address these complex conservation and collaboration 
challenges. This network is working across geographies and jurisdictions at a new regional scale, and is 
delivering unprecedented regional collaboration.  The LCC network is helping to enable conditions to 
support the success of conservation efforts and initiatives underway across the landscape. The vision, 
mission, and guiding principles of the LCC network are outlined in an appendix to this charter. 


The LCC National Council will serve the LCC network by learning from them and helping to identify the 
ecological and institutional challenges faced by the LCCs that should be addressed at the national scale. 
Serving as the national voice for the LCC network, the Council will seek to support changes that can be 
made at the national level to facilitate the work of the LCCs.  The Council will provide a platform for 
highlighting LCC successes and challenges.  Sustained funding is needed for the LCC network, and the 
Council will work to ensure that local and regional partnership efforts are supported at the highest 
levels. To achieve these goals, the Council will meet at a minimum biannually to identify and consider 
high-priority issues and to make recommendations to support the LCC network. Every member of the 
Council has an equal seat at the table, and consensus will be sought for any decision or recommendation 
the Council endorses.  National Council composition is meant to be reflective of the LCC network as a 
whole. 


Looking inward, the LCC National Council will provide national-level coordination to identify 
opportunities to reduce duplication, leverage resources and capacities, and improve efficiencies and 
conservation outcomes across the LCCs. 


While the Council will not serve as an umbrella entity to coordinate and oversee all landscape-level 
initiatives, strategies, national plans or coordination efforts, members will strive to seek input from all 
partners and to remain informed on key opportunities for collaboration. Communication is recognized 
as a critical component for success, and the Council will seek dialogue with agencies, tribes, 
environmental organizations, educational institutions, and other partners to maximize the goals, 
objectives and success of the LCC network. The National Council should prioritize the development of a 
strategy to maximize opportunities for input and information-sharing between the LCCs and the LCC 
National Council.  


National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 2a







LCC National Council Final Charter- 6/17/2013 2 


This is an interim Charter that will serve as guidance to convene the LCC National Council. All elements 
of this Charter, including Council membership, will be revisited by the LCC National Council within the 
first two years of operation. The Council will revise the Charter as needed moving forward. 


Purpose  
The LCC National Council will support the cooperative, large-scale conservation efforts of the LCC 
network by working with them to enhance coordination among the LCCs and to identify ecological and 
institutional challenges such as climate change and other landscape-scale stressors2 that should be 
addressed on the national and international scale. Serving as the national voice for the LCC network, the 
Council will seek to support actions that can be taken at the national level to facilitate the work of the 
cooperatives.  The LCC National Council will support all self-directed LCCs and their diverse individual 
missions, some of which include cultural resources. Once established, the LCC National Council will 
establish operations and implementation frameworks as needed. 


Goals 
The following LCC National Council goals emerged from the LCC network and from national-level 
partners. These goals identify needs essential to sustaining the viability of the LCCs that the existing LCC 
network cannot address without additional national-level support: 


• Integrate national conservation initiatives and partnerships (i.e. State Wildlife Action Plans,
Migratory Bird Joint Ventures, National Fish Habitat Partnerships, and The Nature Conservancy’s
Ecoregional Assessments) with the LCC network and provide a venue for higher-level
conversations about reducing programmatic duplication and improving efficiency.
o The Council’s goal is not to integrate all national initiatives under one umbrella, but to


promote coordination of the LCC network with relevant national conservation initiatives.
• Promote, support and ensure recognition of the LCCs as an effectively-functioning, coordinated,


and connected network that enhances landscape-scale conservation.
• Build a national-level constituency for the LCCs that:


o Focuses on strategic policy engagement
o Shares LCC achievements
o Promotes the LCCs within federal agencies and Congress
o Catalyzes greater commitment by partners to the regional LCCs


• Communicate consistent messages about the LCC enterprise at the national level
• Increase tribal, Alaska Native, Canada First Nation, Native Hawaiian, Pacific Islander, Caribbean,


and other indigenous peoples’ engagement in the LCCs.


Organizational Structure 


2 This term is used in the context of broad spatial scales that may encompass coastal or marine systems, 
freshwater systems, and terrestrial systems, depending on the scope defined by the individual LCCs. 


National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 2a







LCC National Council Final Charter- 6/17/2013 3 


LCCs:  There are 22 individual, self-directed LCCs.  Each LCC is governed by a voluntary steering 
committee with members typically representing conservation and resource management partners from 
a wide variety of federal, state, territorial and international agencies; tribal and other indigenous 
governments, non-governmental organizations, and others located within the LCC geographic region. 
Each LCC also has a staff Coordinator and Science Coordinator. At the national level, there is a National 
LCC Coordinator and an Assistant National LCC Coordinator. 


LCC Network:  The LCC network is composed of the twenty-two individual LCCs and their linkages, 
including Steering Committees, staff, partners, and other individuals, organizations, and agencies 
associated with the LCCs.  


LCC Network Operations:  To enable the LCCs to function as a coordinated network, the core staff from 
the LCCs have organized an LCC Coordinators Team (LCT), comprised of the Coordinators from each of 
the 22 LCCs and the National LCC Coordinators, and an LCC Network Science Coordinators Team that is 
comprised of the Science Coordinators from each of the 22 LCCs and the National LCC Coordinators.  The 
LCT has selected an Executive Committee to work directly with the National LCC Coordinators and the 
LCT collectively on aspects of LCC network operations, and other matters as appropriate, while 
respecting individual LCC steering committee governance authority. 


LCC National Council:  The Council will coordinate, collaborate, and provide strategic guidance to the LCC 
network and all its partners. Additionally, the Council will work to engage other organizations, agencies, 
tribes, and NGOs to further support collaborative landscape-scale conservation.  


LCC National Council Working Groups: When the Council has identified a high-priority issue, action, or 
product, they may form a workgroup to conduct discussions and prepare recommendations for 
consideration by the Council.  Workgroups will carry out tasks as assigned by the Council. Workgroups 
may be permanent or non-permanent, and may disassemble when an issue is resolved or a product is 
completed. 


Membership3 
Selection Criteria 
The following are characteristics the LCC National Council seeks in all members. Individuals selected for 
the council will be collectively evaluated relative to these required characteristics: 


• Be an active participant and an advocate for the LCC mission.
• Have a commitment and willingness to collaborate.
• Be able to think beyond the boundaries of his/her agency, organization, or tribe.
• Be able to represent a broad array of natural and cultural resources.


3 Note that the selection process and criteria will differ slightly for each type of member. The full National LCC 
strategy team will review and approve all potential members nominated for the National Council prior to 
extending invitations. 


National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 2a







LCC National Council Final Charter- 6/17/2013 4 


• Have decision-making authority/influence within their agency, organization, or tribe.
• Be committed to soliciting input from and reporting back to their agencies, organizations, tribes,


and colleagues.
• Have experience in collaborative processes at different scales.
• Be involved with an agency, organization, or tribe that:


o Is engaged in the LCC enterprise.
o Has resources and/or a mission that aligns with the LCC mission.


Has science knowledge/capacity and/or is actively engaged in resource management
activities.


The following overarching characteristics are desirable in some of the members to ensure that the LCC 
National Council has these attributes:   


• Be able to represent a North American perspective that includes international interests (i.e. it is
recommended that the Council select a member(s) that come from the non-contiguous United
States, Mexico, Canada and/or other nations within the LCC geography).4


• Have science knowledge/communications capacity.


Participation: All members (or their designated alternate) are expected to be present at a majority of 
the meetings, conference calls, or other forums in which discussion and/or decision-making occurs.  


Alternates/designees: The LCC National Council will be effective only with consistent and engaged 
participation. Members should designate alternates who are fully informed, can act on behalf of their 
member, and can participate consistently.  


Composition  
The LCC National Council will consist of twenty-seven participants as outlined below: 


• 6 Federal agency directors
o The participating federal agencies were selected based on their authority to make


natural resource management decisions about large landscapes.
o Federal agency directors from the Bureau of Land Management, the U.S. Fish and


Wildlife Service, the National Park Service, the U.S. Forest Service, the USDA Natural
Resource Conservation Service, and the National Oceanic and Atmospheric
Administration will hold permanent seats on the council.


• 3 U.S. Federally-Recognized Tribal participants
o Tribal participants include both tribal leadership as well as participants from tribal


organizations. Participation will not be limited to tribal leadership, but can also come
from tribal organizations that represent these sovereign tribes.


o Tribal participation is limited to U.S. federally-recognized Native American Tribes and
Alaska Natives.


4 The intent is for the National Council to reflect the composition of the LCC network, which includes international, 
indigenous, and Island communities.  


National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 2a







LCC National Council Final Charter- 6/17/2013 5 


o Selection entity: Initially, Tribal participants on the strategy team will develop a
selection process and an initial call for applications, and will convene a panel to review
and select members. Thereafter, review and selection will be the responsibility of the
LCC National Council.


• 1 Indigenous participant
o Participant will be drawn from First Nations, Pacific Islanders, Caribbean peoples, Native


Hawaiians, as well as other indigenous peoples within the geography of the LCCs.
o Selection entity: Initially, strategy team members will work with LCC coordinators who


have indigenous members to develop a selection process and initial call for applications,
and will review and select member. Thereafter, review and selection will be the
responsibility of the LCC National Council.


• 4 State agency directors
o State agencies will be nominated by each of the four respective regional fish and wildlife


associations.
o Target participants are U.S. state agency directors.
o Selection entity: Each regional state fish and wildlife association’s executive committee


(i.e. Southeastern Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies, Northeast Association of
Fish and Wildlife Agencies, Midwest Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies, and
Western Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies) will review and select its respective
participant.


• 4 NGO participants
o Selection entity: Participating NGOs on the strategy team will conduct the initial call for


applications, will review applications, and will make recommendations to the strategy
team on final selections. Thereafter, review and selection will be the responsibility of
the LCC National Council.


• 1 LCC participant
o The LCC participant could be a steering committee member or LCC staff member, and


will be selected by the LCC Coordinators Team (LCT). The LCC participant should have
the ability to speak for broader LCC issues. In addition, attendance from the LCT
Executive Committee is expected.


o Selection entity: The LCT will recommend an individual for participation. If the LCT
cannot reach consensus, then their list of recommendations will be forwarded to the
LCT Executive Committee for final selection.


• 2 “Major partnership” (MP) participants
o MP participants will include participants from major partnerships such as Migratory Bird


Joint Ventures, Fish Habitat Action Partnerships, and other relevant partnerships.
o Selection entity: The strategy team has determined that, initially, MP participants will


come from the Joint Ventures and the Fish Habitat Partnerships. Future Major
Partnership participants will be determined by the LCC National Council. The Joint
Ventures participant will be selected by the Joint Venture Management Board. The Fish
Habitat Partnership participant will be selected by the National Fish Habitat Partnership.


National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 2a







LCC National Council Final Charter- 6/17/2013 6 


• 4 International participants
o International seats will be filled from all nations participating in the LCC enterprise, as


defined by the geography of the LCCs. A minimum of one participant from Canada and
one from Mexico will be included in these four seats.


o Selection entity:   Initially, strategy team members will work with LCC coordinators who
have international members to develop a selection process and initial call for
applications, and will review and select members. Thereafter, review and selection will
be the responsibility of the LCC National Council. Additionally, LCC staff and strategy
team members will reach out to international conservation entities  such as the
Trilateral Committee for Wildlife and Ecosystem Conservation Management, the North
American Free Trade Agreement’s Commission for Environmental Cooperation,
Caribbean Foresters, and other international conservation organizations within the LCC
geography to seek participation.


• 2 “At Large” participants
o An additional two member seats are designated as “at large” and will be filled at a


future date by the LCC National Council.
o “At large” participants may come from organizations and interests not currently


represented, such as U.S. territories, commonwealths, local governments industry, the
philanthropic community, and other federal agencies such as the Bureau of Indian
Affairs, Bureau of Reclamation, U.S. Department of Energy, U.S. Department of Defense,
U.S. Department of Transportation, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, U.S. Army
Corps of Engineers, and U.S. Geological Survey.


In addition to the above-designated voting members, the LCC National Council is encouraged to actively 
invite participation from other strategic partners as appropriate. Though they will not be voting 
members, other partners involved in landscape-scale conservation are also encouraged to attend and 
participate in the LCC National Council. 


The strategy team recognizes the direct tie between the LCCs and the Climate Science Centers and 
encourages attendance by an appropriate National Climate Change and Wildlife Science Center 
participant. 


Terms 
Initial term lengths: 
The National Council’s first participants will be selected for either a 3-year or 2-year term to initiate a 
staggered term rotation.  After the first 3-year terms are served, all terms will be two years in length.  


Initial term durations are as follows: 
• Federal agencies – Permanent members
• Tribal participants – two 3-year terms and one 2-year term
• Indigenous participant—2-year term


National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 2a







LCC National Council Final Charter- 6/17/2013 7 


• State agencies – two 3-year terms and two 2-year terms
• NGO participants – two 3-year terms and two 2-year terms
• LCC participant – 2-year term
• Major Partnership participant – 2-year terms
• International participants—two 3-year terms and two 2-year terms
• “At large” seats – 2-year terms


Term limits: 
Term limits apply to all members except federal agency participants, who have standing seats. Following 
initial term lengths, non-federal participants will be subject to a two-term limit. 


Roles & Responsibilities  
The LCC National Council is responsible for reporting to Congress, States, tribes, and other partners on 
the status and accomplishments of the LCCs. Recognizing that the LCCs are self-directed partnerships 
and that participants come from agencies, organizations, and tribes with their own inherent authorities, 
the LCC National Council respects such authorities and will work collaboratively to provide coordination, 
strategic guidance, and recommendations. As such, the LCC National Council will have no authority over 
individual LCCs. 


Specific key roles are outlined below. 


Chair – The Chair of the LCC National Council holds the following responsibilities: 
• Prepare a written meeting agenda for all matters to be addressed by the Council.
• Prepare and issue all notices, including meeting notices, which are required to be given to the


Council and public.
• Preside at all meetings of the LCC National Council, and unless otherwise directed by the


Council, present items of business for consideration by the Council in the order listed on the
meeting agenda.


• Appoint working groups as required.
• “Call the vote” when consensus is not achieved.
• Represent the LCC network to the Administration, Congress, and other key decision-makers.


Vice chair – The Vice-chair will fulfill all the responsibilities of the Chair in his/her absence. 
Staff - The National LCC Coordinator, or his/her designee, will provide staff support for the LCC National 
Council and assist the Chair in finalizing meeting arrangements, tracking votes, documenting meeting 
discussions, distributing council notes and products, and identifying opportunities to speak on behalf of 
the LCC network.  


National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 2a







LCC National Council Final Charter- 6/17/2013 8 


Decision-making  
The LCC National Council’s decision-making process will consist of the following elements: 


Quorum:  
Two-thirds of the LCC National Council must be present for decision-making to occur. 


Decision-Making Process: 
The LCC National Council will seek consensus for all decisions.  This implies thoroughly exploring issues 
and working actively and constructively to find mutual agreement. If full consensus is not possible, then 
the LCC National Council will move to the decision-making model as outlined below: 


• In the absence of consensus, a teleconference or in-person meeting is needed to make
decisions.  Email conversations may only be used to make decisions where consensus exists.


• If a quorum has been reached, agreement must come from 75% of the number of participants
present.


• Minority opinions and concerns will be recorded so that they may be revisited when and where
relevant.


Meetings: The LCC National Council will meet quarterly (two in-person meetings and two 
web/conference call meetings), particularly as the Council is becoming established. The LCC National 
Council may elect to meet more or less frequently as needed. The Council may reduce the number of in-
person meetings to once per year if travel restrictions or funding is a barrier for achieving quorum. 
Decision-making as noted above can occur via email or conference calls between quarterly meetings if 
actively facilitated by the Chair.  


National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 2a







LCC National Council Final Charter- 6/17/2013 9 


Appendix: Mission, Vision, and Guiding Principles of the LCC Network 


This appendix presents the mission, vision, and guiding principles of the LCC Network. The following text 
was copied directly from the LCC Coordinators Team charter. 


Preamble 


The Landscape Conservation Cooperative Network5 (LCC Network or Network) desires to establish a 
unifying agenda for furthering the conservation of natural and cultural resources in the 21st Century; 


The Network is striving to establish an organizational framework and approach for pursuing 
opportunities to inform natural and cultural resource conservation and sustainable6 resource 


management in the face of unprecedented challenges facing these resources;  


We recognize that the need to understand the science of global climate change, and mount an 
integrated response for adapting to this threat, is a foundational principle for the establishment of LCCs 


and the Network; 


We recognize that, in addition to climate change, there are a variety of other landscape-scale stressors7 
that require mutual understanding and effective responses to conserve the natural and cultural 


resources within the Network’s geography; 


We recognize that a functioning Network will require pursuit of certain fundamental approaches by each 
LCC; 


We recognize that it is important that each LCC have flexibility to adapt to local conditions; the intent of 
this document is not to prescribe how things are done by individual LCCs, but to identify the anticipated 


responsibilities  
each LCC will need to fulfill in support of the Network vision. 


 Therefore, the twenty-two Landscape Conservation Cooperatives, in coordination with their steering 
committees have adopted this document to unify the individual Cooperatives into a Network. 


Vision 


Landscapes capable of sustaining natural and cultural resources for current and future generations.


5 The LCC Network is composed of the twenty-two individual LCCs and their linkages (i.e., steering committees, 
staff, partners and others associated with the LCCs).  
6 The use of the terms sustainable, sustaining, and sustainability do not intend to imply maintenance of status quo. 
7 This term is used in the context of broad spatial scales that may encompass coastal or marine systems, 
freshwater systems, and terrestrial systems, depending on the scope defined by the individual LCCs. 


National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 2a







LCC National Council Final Charter- 6/17/2013 10 


Mission 


A network of cooperatives depends on LCCs to: 


• Develop and provide integrated science-based information about the implications of climate
change and other stressors for the sustainability of natural and cultural resources;


• Develop shared, landscape-level, conservation objectives and inform conservation strategies
that are based on a shared scientific understanding about the landscape, including the
implications of current and future environmental stressors;


• Facilitate the exchange of applied science in the implementation of conservation strategies and
products developed by the Cooperative or their partners;


• Monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of LCC conservation strategies in meeting shared
objectives;


• Develop appropriate linkages that connect LCCs to ensure an effective network.


Guiding Principles 


• Consider and respect each participating organization’s unique mandates and jurisdictions.


• Add value to landscape-scale conservation by integrating across LCCs and other partnerships
and organizations to identify and fill gaps and avoid redundancies.


• Conduct open and frequent communications within the LCC network and among vested
stakeholders and be transparent in deliberations and decision-making.


• Focus on developing shared landscape-level priorities that lead to strategies that can be
implemented.


• Develop and rely upon best available science.


• Develop explicit linkages and approaches to ensure products are available in a form that is
usable by partners delivering conservation.


• Use a scientifically objective adaptive management approach in fulfilling the mission.


National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 2a





		Tab_2a

		LCC National Council charter - June 2013

		LCC National Council Charter

		Introduction

		Purpose

		Goals

		Organizational Structure

		Membership2F

		Selection Criteria

		Composition

		Terms

		Roles & Responsibilities

		Specific key roles are outlined below.

		Decision-making

		Appendix: Mission, Vision, and Guiding Principles of the LCC Network

		Preamble

		Vision

		A network of cooperatives depends on LCCs to:

		Guiding Principles












Contact: 
Ryan Roberts 
National Fish Habitat Partnership 
202-624-5851 
rroberts@fishwildlife.org 


Association of Fish & Wildlife Agencies Supports Measure to Strengthen the National Fish 
Habitat Partnership  


(October 7, 2013) – The 10-year mark of the National Fish Habitat Partnership (NFHP) and Action Plan, 
was commemorated with a resolution passed at the business meeting of the Association of Fish & 
Wildlife Agencies (AFWA) in September 2013.     


With this resolution, state fish and wildlife agencies recognize NFHP as a state-led effort and will work 
towards increasing support for implementing the Action Plan, distinguishing its value in furthering the 
conservation of fish, wetland and wildlife habitats and enhancing fishing opportunities for the public.   


“This resolution affirms AFWA’s commitment through the states in supporting the increasing scope of 
the National Fish Habitat Partnership.  State support of the both the National and individual 
partnership efforts is essential for the continuing success of the initiative and maintaining the National 
Fish Habitat Partnership as a state-led effort” said Kelly Hepler, Chair of the National Fish Habitat Board 
and Assistant Commissioner, Alaska Dept. of Fish and Game.  


The NFHP is working through 18 regionally-based partnerships in 47 states.  Many of these 
partnerships work hand-in-hand with state agencies and have been instrumental in the success of the 
work of the partnerships in conducting on-the-ground conservation activities.   


The NFHP is a priority of AFWA’s Fisheries and Water Resources Policy Committee, and it has received 
nearly $3 Million in Sportfish Restoration funding since 2008 through the Multistate Conservation 
Grant Program.  This funding is used for implementation of Partnership priorities and to restore 
aquatic habitat across the country.   


AFWA’s NFHP resolution is complementary to a Memorandum of Understanding recently signed by 
the U.S. Departments of the Interior, Agriculture and Commerce underscoring their commitment to 
the NFHP and implementing the National Fish Habitat Action Plan and, reporting their activities 
annually to each Department’s Secretary.  


To read AFWA’s resolution #2013-1: STRENGTHENING STATE INVOLVEMENT IN THE NATIONAL FISH 
HABITAT NATIONAL PARTNERSHIP (NFHP) & RECOGNITION OF THE 10-YEAR ANNIVERSARY OF AFWA 
LEADING NFHP, go to http://www.fishwildlife.org/files/2013AnnualMeeting_Resolutions.pdf. 


About the National Fish Habitat Partnership:  
The National Fish Habitat Partnership works to conserve fish habitat nationwide, leveraging federal, state, and private funding sources to 
achieve the greatest impact on fish populations through priority conservation projects. The national partnership implements the National 
Fish Habitat Action Plan and supports 18 regional grassroots partner organizations. For more information visit, http://fishhabitat.org/ , 
http://www.facebook.com/NFHAP , https://twitter.com/FishHabitat , http://www.scoop.it/t/fish-habitat 


National Fish Habitat Board
October 22-23, 2013
Tab 2b



mailto:rroberts@fishwildlife.org

http://fishhabitat.org/

http://www.fishwildlife.org/files/2013AnnualMeeting_Resolutions.pdf

http://fishhabitat.org/

http://www.facebook.com/NFHAP

https://twitter.com/FishHabitat

http://www.scoop.it/t/fish-habitat





[2]	
  


Resolution #2013-1 


STRENGTHENING STATE INVOLVEMENT IN THE  
NATIONAL FISH HABITAT NATIONAL PARTNERSHIP (NFHP) 


& RECOGNITION OF THE 10-YEAR ANNIVERSARY OF AFWA LEADING NFHP 


The year 2013 marks the 10-year anniversary of the Sport Fishing and Boating Partnership 
Council bringing forth a vision that spawned the National Fish Habitat Partnership.  In 
celebration of the ten years of progress that has been made towards implementing the National 
Fish Habitat Action Plan (Action Plan), and in recognition of the tremendous contributions states 
make to the National Fish Habitat Partnership, the following resolution is being proffered.   


WHEREAS, threats to fish habitats across the country still exist and fisheries resources remain 
at risk; and   


WHEREAS, the National Fish Habitat Partnership is a state-led, action oriented, and science 
based partnership effort that is priority driven; is focused on achieving measurable outcomes; is 
collaborative in its conservation efforts; targets resources and funding where they will make a 
measurable difference; facilitates public-private partnerships; and, promotes monitoring and 
dissemination of conservation results.  State-led conservation partnerships are unbiased and 
therefore create significant goodwill from the public; and 


WHEREAS, from the beginning states have been essential to making the National Fish Habitat 
Partnership an effective force for fish habitat conservation.  States had significant input in 
developing the National Fish Habitat Action Plan (2006) and the 2nd Edition of the National Fish 
Habitat Action Plan (2012) and the 10-year anniversary of implementation of this state-led effort 
provides an opportunity for the Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies and its member state 
agencies to reaffirm their commitment to leading the effort; and 


WHEREAS, the unified, coordinated guidance and objectives of the National Fish Habitat Action 
Plan led to unprecedented cooperation and collaboration among federal, state, tribal, and 
conservation partners at a landscape-scale level to address threats to fish habitats and fisheries 
resources; and  


WHEREAS, the activities of the National Fish Habitat Board and the eighteen (18) recognized 
Fish Habitat Partnerships (FHPs) led to significant conservation actions targeting key fish 
habitats across the country.  All 50 states are covered by the conservation efforts of one or 
more of the FHPs and state fish and wildlife agencies are key FHP partners; and   


WHEREAS, in April 2012, the United States Departments of the Interior, Agriculture, and 
Commerce signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) underscoring their commitment to 
the National Fish Habitat Partnership and implementing the National Fish Habitat Action Plan. 
The MOU focuses these agencies on collaborating to implement the National Fish Habitat 
Action Plan, committing resources to the National Fish Habitat Partnership and, reporting their 
activities annually to each department’s Secretary. 


National Fish Habitat Board
October 22-23, 2013
Tab 2b







[3]	
  


NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOVED, that the Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies and 
its member state agencies recognize the valuable accomplishments of the National Fish Habitat 
Partnership and continue to be committed to advancing the goals and objectives of the Action 
Plan, actively leading implementation of the Action Plan, and coordinating with the National Fish 
Habitat Board on reporting state contributions to the National Fish Habitat Partnership; and   


BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that increased support for implementing the Action Plan will 
further conserve fish, wetland, and wildlife habitats and enhance fishing opportunities for the 
public and therefore build a stronger community of support for on the ground for fish habitat 
conservation, and thus state fish and wildlife agencies are encouraged to consider voluntary 
financial contributions as well as personnel contributions to the National Fish Habitat 
Partnership; and the Association will continue to provide the leadership role it has to the 
National Fish Habitat Board and its staff. 


Submitted by the Fisheries and Water Resources Policy Committee 


National Fish Habitat Board
October 22-23, 2013
Tab 2b





		test

		2013AnnualMeeting_Resolutions 2

		2013AnnualMeeting_Resolutions 3










National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 3 
 


Proposal for a performance evaluation of the National Fish Habitat Board 
 
Background 
 
In 2010, the National Fish Habitat Board retained a consultant, Bill Dann of Professional Growth 
Systems, to develop and administer a review of the Board’s performance.  The purpose of the 
review was to provide information to the Board to help improve the Board’s performance in 
carrying out its roles and responsibilities as identified in the National Fish Habitat Action Plan. 
 
A 14-question survey was designed and distributed to people associated with Fish Habitat 
Partnerships.  Forty-nine individuals representing 17 FHPs were asked to respond to the survey.  
Thirty people representing 16 FHPs completed the survey.  In each question, respondents were 
asked to rate the Board’s performance on a scale of 1 to 10 on a facet of the Board’s 
responsibilities.  Respondents were also asked to provide comments and recommendations for 
improvement.  The Board received a report of results dated September 20, 2010.   
 
At its meeting in October 2010 in Portland, Oregon, the Board held a one-day facilitated strategy 
session to follow up on the survey.  Invited participants included Board members and staff, FHP 
representatives and coordinators, state fish chiefs and other state representatives, FWS Fisheries 
ARDs and NOAA Fisheries ARAs, and Regional NFHAP coordinators from FWS and NOAA.  
A 7-page report was compiled from three breakout sessions focused on Board roles, performance 
criteria, and communications.   
 
The Board followed up by appointing Board member Steve Perry to lead an ad hoc Criteria 
Development Committee to address two of the areas where the Board scored lowest on the 
survey:  criteria for allocating funding, and evaluation criteria for FHPs.  The Board and staff 
also adopted operational recommendations arising from the breakout sessions, such as 
development of a Board member handbook.   
 
The work of the Criteria Development Committee led to Board approval of an FHP performance 
evaluation protocol that will be implemented on a 3-year cycle.  The first full-fledged FHP 
evaluation will be done in 2015, covering the years 2012-2014. 
 
Proposed Board performance evaluation in 2014 
 
At its June 2013 meeting, the Board approved a staff proposal to initiate a second review of 
Board performance covering the years 2011-2013.  The Board directed staff to propose a detailed 
plan for the review at the October 2013 Board meeting. 
 
The proposed timeline for the evaluation is as follows: 


• October 2013 – Present detailed plan to the Board for feedback and approval 
• November-December 2013 – Make final edits to survey per Board decisions 
• January 2014 – Distribute survey online to FHP representatives and other stakeholders 
• February 2014 – Tabulate survey results, prepare report 
• March 2014 – Present results at Board meeting in Denver 







National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 3 
 
The period of evaluation (2011-2013) encompasses the final period under the original 2006 
Action Plan, and the initial period under the 2nd Edition Action Plan approved in July 2012.  A 
set of rating factors has been developed that reflect the roles of the Board as described in both 
versions of the Action Plan, as well as the implementation strategies in both versions, shown 
below.   


Category Board roles in the 
original Action Plan 


(2006) 


Board roles in the 
Action Plan 2nd 
Edition (2012) 


Strategies in the 
original Action Plan 


(2006) 


Strategies in the 
Action Plan 2nd 
Edition (2012) 


Lead & 
coordinate 


Coordinate agency 
and stakeholder 
involvement at the 
national level 


Provide national 
leadership and 
coordination to 
conserve fish habitats 


Provide national 
leadership and 
coordination to 
conserve fish habitats 


Provide national 
leadership and 
coordination to 
conserve fish habitats 


Support 
FHPs 


Develop appropriate 
policies and guidance 
for recognizing 
partnerships and 
criteria for allocating 
national funding and 
related resources 


Approve and support 
Fish Habitat 
Partnerships and 
foster new efforts 


Support existing Fish 
Habitat partnerships 
and foster new efforts 


Support Fish Habitat 
Partnerships and 
ensure their 
effectiveness 


Deliver 
funding 


Work to establish 
national partnerships 
that provide funding 
and other resources 
to the Fish Habitat 
Partnerships and 
other efforts of the 
plan 
 
Develop processes to 
prioritize and deliver 
National Fish Habitat 
Action Plan funds to 
the partnerships 


Mobilize and focus 
national, regional, and 
local support 


Mobilize and focus 
national and local 
support for achieving 
fish habitat 
conservation goals 


Mobilize and focus 
national and local 
support for achieving 
fish habitat 
conservation goals 


Measure & 
communicate 


Establish national 
measures of success 
and evaluation criteria 
guidelines for 
partnerships 
 
Report to Congress, 
states and other 
partners on the status 
and accomplishments 
of the National Fish 
Habitat Action Plan 


Measure and 
communicate the 
status and needs of 
fish habitat 
 
Establish long term 
national fish habitat 
conservation goals 
and supporting 
regional goals 


Measure and 
communicate the 
status and needs of 
aquatic habitats 


Measure and 
communicate the 
status and needs of 
aquatic habitats 


 
Respondents will be asked to rate the Board’s performance on a scale of 1 (low) to 10 (high) for 
each of 26 rating factors.  Respondents will also be asked to provide free-form comments and 
recommendations.  A list of products and accomplishments of the Board during 2011-2013 will 
be provided to survey respondents, identifying those that were responsive to the 2010 evaluation. 
 
The survey and background information will be sent to Board members and staff, principal 
contacts for each recognized and candidate FHP (who may distribute the survey to key steering 
committee members or other highly engaged partners), state fish chiefs (freshwater and marine), 







National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 3 
 
and principal contacts for key federal agency partners, including regional NFHP coordinators for 
FWS and NOAA Fisheries.  (In 2010, only FHP leaders and coordinators were surveyed.) 


 
Board products and accomplishments during 2011-2013 


to be provided to survey respondents to aid in evaluating Board performance 
 


Items in bold italics were responsive to input received in the 2010 evaluation of Board 
performance and/or the follow-up facilitated breakouts 


 
• Rolled out first national assessment of fish habitats, 2011 
• Served data from the national assessment on the online map viewer, 2011, and enhanced 


the map viewer to include additional data themes and to serve FHP data needs, 2013 
• Named 10 “Waters to Watch” each year, 2011-2013 
• Gave out four National Fish Habitat Awards in 2011 (vision, extraordinary action, 


scientific achievement, outreach & education) and two awards in 2012 (scientific 
achievement, extraordinary action) 


• Sponsored a NFHP trade show booth at the American Fisheries Society annual 
meeting 2011-13, River Rally 2012-13, TU National Capital Chapter 2011-13, Land & 
Wildlife Expo 2011 


• Established a presence on online media sites:  Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn, Scoop.it 
• Developed estimates of economic impact of NFHP projects conducted 2006-2011 
• Re-branded NFHAP as the “National Fish Habitat Partnership” with new logo 
• Developed new web site with more flexibility and functionality 
• Began a practice of posting draft Board meeting minutes on the web within 30 days 
• Held a joint session with Fish & Wildlife Service ARDs and NOAA Fisheries ARAs, 


April 2011, and planned a joint session with ARDs again in October 2013 
• Approved method of allocating funds to FHPs, October 2011 
• Developed first edition of the Board Manual, a reference for Board members, 


November 2011, and updated the Manual in January 2013 
• Recognized the 18th Fish Habitat Partnership (Pacific Marine & Estuarine Partnership), 


January 2012 
• Worked with Federal agencies to promote a Secretary-level Memorandum of 


Understanding in support of NFHP, signed March 2012 by the Secretaries of Agriculture, 
Commerce, and the Interior 


• Approved 2nd Edition of Action Plan, July 2012 
• Approved FHP performance evaluation method and schedule, July 2012 
• Implemented improved Board priority and budget planning system including a greater 


and better defined role for committees, October 2012 
• Sponsored first national FHP workshop, facilitated by River Network, January 2013 
• Approved national conservation strategies, February 2013 
• Approved development of a not-for-profit corporation to support NFHP, June 2013 
• Sponsored webinars and peer learning networks targeted to meet developmental needs 


of FHPs, utilizing expertise of River Network, 2013 
 







National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 3 
 


Proposed survey questions to be distributed via online questionnaire 
 


General questions: 
• Who is your employer?  (Select one:  State/tribe, federal agency, non-governmental 


organization, other) 
• What is your role in NFHP? (Select one:  Board/staff, FHP, Board committee, other) 
• How long have you been engaged with NFHP?  (Select one:  less than 1 year, 1-3 years, 


more than 3 years) 
• How many meetings of the National Fish Habitat Board have you attended?  (Select one:  


none, 1-3, more than 3) 
 
Please rate on a scale of 1 to10 (with 10 being the highest rating) the National Fish Habitat 
Board’s performance in the following areas during the years 2011-2013.  If you aren’t sure, 
check “Don’t know or no opinion”. 
 
Also rate on a scale of 1 to 10 (with 10 being the highest importance) how important each of the 
factors is to you and your organization. 
 
Each category of questions also has a box to provide narrative comments and suggestions. 
 
Lead & coordinate 


1. Coordinating agency and stakeholder involvement at the national level 
2. Mobilizing national support for achieving fish habitat conservation goals 
3. Providing national leadership to conserve fish habitats 
4. Overseeing action and follow-through on all strategies of the Action Plan 


 
Support Fish Habitat Partnerships 


5. Establishing measures of success for Fish Habitat Partnerships 
6. Adding value to Fish Habitat Partnerships through the NFHP brand 
7. Taking action to address FHP concerns 
8. Improving effectiveness of FHPs through training and peer interaction 


 
Deliver funding 


9. Developing criteria for allocating national funding and related resources to FHPs 
10. Developing processes that prioritize the use of National Fish Habitat Action Plan funds 
11. Developing expanded sources of funding to address needs and priorities of FHPs 
12. Developing fiscal management tools to assist FHPs 


 
Measure & communicate status & needs of habitat 


13. Advancing the scientific basis of measuring fish habitat condition 
14. Collating information to measure threats and condition of fish habitat on multiple scales 
15. Promoting the collection of new information on the status of fish habitats 
16. Communicating the status and needs of fish habitat to stakeholders and the public 


 
Board operations 







National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 3 
 


17. Using a transparent decision-making process 
18. Holding effective Board meetings that meet the needs of the broader partnership 
19. Monitoring the progress of achieving National Fish Habitat Action Plan objectives 
20. Using and managing its standing committees by defining roles, assigning tasks, and 


holding committees accountable (respond for each Committee separately) 
a. Science and Data Committee 
b. Communications Committee 
c. Partnership Committee 
d. Funding Committee 


 
Board leadership 


21. Clarity of direction 
22. Clarity of priorities 
23. Clarity of expectations 
24. Clarity of measures of success 
25. Accountability for results 
26. Promoting awareness and support for fish habitat conservation 


 
Summary question (narrative) 
Overall, are your expectations being met by the National Fish Habitat Board?  Why or why not?  
Where do you suggest the Board focus its efforts over the next three years to improve its overall 
effectiveness? 












National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 4 
 


Targets for performance under the National Conservation Strategies 
 


2013 approved FWS-funded NFHP projects 
 


• A total of 75 projects were approved for funding by FWS in FY 2013.  FWS funds 
requested for the approved projects totaled $3,304,170.  Only $3,175,600 was available 
to allocate, so 8 of the 75 projects were partially funded.  Expected partner contributions 
to the approved projects total $9.45 million. 
 


• FWS Headquarters requested lists of projects from Fish Habitat Partnerships through the 
8 FWS Regions.  Regions were asked to identify which (if any) of the National Fish 
Habitat Board’s National Conservation Strategies were addressed by the project.   


 
• The National Conservation Strategies and the number of projects addressing each 


strategy are:   
 


1. Protect intact and healthy waters – 34 projects 
2. Restore hydrologic conditions for fish – 30 projects 
3. Reconnect fragmented fish habitats – 29 projects 
4. Restore water quality – 23 projects 


(The number of projects exceeds 75 because several projects address more than 
one of the strategies.) 


 
• The table below shows the target performance for several FWS performance measures, 


categorized by National Conservation Strategy.   
 


 1. Protect intact 
and healthy 


waters 


2. Restore 
hydrologic 


conditions for fish 


3. Reconnect 
fragmented fish 


habitats 


4. Restore 
water quality 


Number of fish passage 
barriers removed or bypassed 


  27  


Number of miles re-opened to 
fish passage 


  199.47  


Number of acres re-opened to 
fish passage 


  22.36  


Number of riparian miles 
enhanced 


2.1 1  12.5 


Number of wetland acres 
restored/enhanced 


3   35 


Number of upland acres 
restored/enhanced 


2.5 302.6  9 


Number of population 
assessments completed 


1    


 


 








National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 5 


Title:   Partnership Committee 


Desired outcome:  An informational briefing to the Board on the Partnership Committee’s 
progress towards its 2013 work plan and a recommendation for the Partnership Committee’s 
focus in 2014. 


Background:  At its October 2012 Meeting, the Board tasked the Partnership Committee with 
addressing the following priority issues during 2013: 


Task A - Develop guidance that assists Fish Habitat Partnerships in establishing strategic 
priorities and processes that allow the partnerships to document milestones and targets that track 
progress and outcomes. 


Task B - Develop a process that builds consensus support among Fish Habitat Partnerships for 
Multi-state Conservation Grant proposals, and other pertinent funding sources, submitted by the 
National Fish Habitat Board on their behalf. 


Task C - Establish a vetting process for fish habitat conservation projects submitted to non-
NFHP funding sources that need endorsements from Fish Habitat Partnerships. 


Task D - Identify approaches for estimating the costs for FHPs to achieve their priority 
conservation outcomes. 


2013 Work Plan Progress 


The Partnership Committee met three (3) times by teleconference to address its 2013 tasks. 


Task A:  The Partnership Committee hosted a half-day session in conjunction with the FHP 
Excellence Workshop in Portland, OR to talk to FHPs about strengthening their strategic 
priorities and tracking progress towards outcomes.  Information was shared through overview 
presentations, case studies, and facilitated discussion; however, specific guidance has not been 
developed. 


Task B:  The Partnership Committee roughed out a process for building consensus support 
among FHPs for MSCGP proposals submitted by the Board on their behalf that includes: 
keeping with a regional based approach (which may differ from the regional breakouts currently 
being used); establishing a long-term list of priority conservation needs that are best suited for 
multi-FHP approaches to addressing those needs; and, engaging up front with the processes used 
by AFWA to develop National Conservation Needs  in an effort to ensure alignment with the 







National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 5 


long-term priority conservation needs.  Important note:  Until the issue of securing stable base 
funding for FHP operations is resolved, it will be difficult to institute an approach focused solely 
on addressing regional conservation priorities, as the MSCGP funds are a crucial source for FHP 
operational support. 


Task C:  The issue of establishing a vetting process for FHP endorsement/support of fish habitat 
conservation projects submitted to non-NFHP funding sources is being sufficiently addressed by 
networking among FHPs.  There are several approaches that FHPs use, which are described 
within FHP websites.  Additionally, the NFH Board adopted a project endorsement template that 
is readily available for FHP use. 


Task D:  The Partnership Committee did not address the task of identifying approaches for 
estimating the costs for FHPs to achieve their priority conservation outcomes in 2013. 


Suggested needs to be addressed by the Partnership Committee in 2014: 


• Because they are inter-related, the Partnership Committee is suggesting that it combine the
need for guidance that assists Fish Habitat Partnerships in establishing their conservation
priorities with the need to address the NFH Board’s National Conservation Strategies and the
need to develop cost estimates for achieving the conservation priorities of FHPs; and, to
address these combined needs during 2014.


• As a result of the FHP Excellence Workshop held back in January 2013, a number of FHPs
have begun developing Business Plans, and some are using the Business Plan template
developed by River Network as an overall guide.  During discussions at the FHP session that
was held during the 2013 AFS annual meeting, it was suggested that perhaps the Partnership
Committee should facilitate the development of a standard business planning template for
endorsement by the Board.  This task may include a peer learning network to help FHPs
apply the template by sharing knowledge and experience.








National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 6 


Title:   Science and Data Committee Report for FY2013 


Desired outcome:  An informational briefing to the Board on the Science and Data Committee’s 
2013 work plan outcomes and Board concurrence for the Science and Data Committee’s 
proposed priority issues it will address in 2014. 


Background:  At the October 2012 Meeting, the Board approved the following Science and 
Data Committee priorities for 2013: 


1. Refine Science and Data Committee membership to ensure the Committee can meet the
Board’s needs.


2. The Science and Data Committee will catalog and review current Assessment activities
underway by the Fish Habitat Partnerships.


3. Develop mechanisms and document procedures to guide Fish Habitat Partnerships and
partners in data management practices to improve data and information exchange that will
facilitate collaborative science and data efforts across the National Fish Habitat Partnership.
Dedicated workflow strategies will be developed to implement best practices in data
management including data curation and preservation tasks to ensure data access and re-use
in the future.


4. Update and improve the NFHP data system to improve usability by a broad range of partners.
5. Implement approved strategy to refine the 2010 National Fish Habitat Assessment


(Assessment) for 2015 and beyond.
a. The inland assessment will refine and update fisheries, aquatic nuisance and invasive


species, dam inventory, land conservation status, and water quality status (focusing on
potentially using Section 303d listings and NPDES violation data) information as data
become available. Improved river fragmentation analyses and national calculation of
fragmentation metrics will be completed. Demonstration project areas will be identified
with interested Partnerships. Approaches to refine the marine-inland linkages between the
inland and marine assessments will be evaluated.


b. Refine the existing geospatial framework for estuaries in the contiguous United States
and complete initial development of a geospatial framework for all estuaries across
Alaska. A pilot project, illustrating the proposed new fish stressor methodology and
regional assessment approach, will be conducted for estuaries in the Gulf of Mexico,
including methodological refinements as necessary. Begin data collection and processing
to support additional regional estuarine assessments, including datasets on fish/shellfish
abundance and diversity, physical habitat, anthropogenic stress, and biological response.







National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 6 


Explore methodologies to improve linkages between the inland and marine components 
of the National Assessment.  


2013 Work Plan Outcomes 


o Refine Science and Data Committee membership to ensure the Committee can meet the
Board’s needs.  This effort is expected to be completed by the Board meeting.


o The Science and Data Committee will catalog and review current Assessment activities
underway by the Fish Habitat Partnerships.  This work was completed in June and the
Committee will be examining these data in the coming months.


o Develop mechanisms and document procedures to guide Fish Habitat Partnerships and
partners in data management practices to improve data and information exchange that will
facilitate collaborative science and data efforts across the National Fish Habitat Partnership.
A draft standard operating procedures document has been completed and will be finalized by
the next Board meeting.


o Update and improve the NFHP data system to improve usability by a broad range of partners.
An updated data system has been completed by USGS staff and is currently in use with
additional refinements to be completed over the winter.


o Implement approved strategy to refine the 2010 National Fish Habitat Assessment
(Assessment) for 2015 and beyond.  Progress on this task is detailed in the attached reports
from the two assessment groups.


o Develop standard effectiveness measures for conservation actions used to address nationwide
fish habitat focus areas.   This task is currently in progress.


Draft Science and Data Priorities for FY2014: 


o The Science and Data Committee will examine and review current Assessment activities
underway by the Fish Habitat Partnerships, Landscape Conservation Cooperatives (LCCs),
and the National Assessment Teams.
Resources:  $20,000 to support a single Science and Data Committee meeting to focus on
FHPs and LCCs Assessment efforts and to review progress on along with products from the
2015 National Fish Habitat Assessment. This task was not conducted in FY2013 as
refinement of the Science and Data Committee membership was delayed by the need for
additional review time by partner agencies.


o Refine mechanisms and document procedures to guide Fish Habitat Partnerships and partners
in data management practices to improve data and information exchange that will facilitate
collaborative science and data efforts across the National Fish Habitat Partnership.







National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 6 


Resources: $197,000 to support applications developer, metadata specialist, infrastructure 
maintenance and support – in-kind from USGS, Core Science Analytics & Synthesis for 
FY2014 


o Continue to catalog data products developed by Fish Habitat Partnerships via the NFHP Data
System.  Refine developed workflow strategies to allow implementation of best practices in
data management including data curation and preservation tasks to ensure data access and re-
use in the future.
Resources: $63,200 to provide dedicated data management support to catalog FHP data  –
in-kind from USGS, Core Science Analytics & Synthesis for FY2014


o Continue development of standard effectiveness measures for conservation actions used to
address nationwide fish habitat focus areas.
Resources:  Needed resources being determined at this time.


o The inland assessment will refine and update fisheries, aquatic nuisance and invasive species,
dam inventory, land conservation status, and water quality status information as data become
available. Improved river fragmentation analyses and national calculation of fragmentation
metrics will be completed.  Development of lakesheds and lake assessments will begin.
Demonstration project areas will be identified and implemented with interested Partnerships.
Approaches to improve hydrology and temperature incorporation and to refine the marine-
inland linkages between the inland and marine assessments will be evaluated.
Resources:  $42,300 to support data management activities for inland assessment team –
in-kind from USGS, Core Science Analytics & Synthesis for FY2014
Resources: $151,000 to continue core development of the Inland Assessment – USFWS
funds.


o Refine the existing marine geospatial framework for estuaries in the contiguous United States
and complete initial development of a geospatial framework for all estuaries across Alaska. A
pilot project, illustrating the proposed new fish stressor methodology and regional assessment
approach, will be completed for estuaries in the Gulf of Mexico, including methodological
refinements as necessary. Begin data collection and processing to support additional regional
estuarine assessments starting in the Pacific Northwest, including datasets on fish/shellfish
abundance and diversity, physical habitat, anthropogenic stress, and biological response.
Explore methodologies to improve linkages between the inland and marine components of
the National Assessment.
Resources:  $220,000 to support continued core development of the Marine Assessment – in-
kind from NOAA-Fisheries for FY2014.







National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 6 


Resources Needed:  $60,000 for 1 FTE for 6 months to do GIS and coordination support 
with partners (AK FHPs and NMFS, FWS) to complete geospatial framework for Alaska 
estuaries. 


o Science and Data Committee outreach efforts will: ensure coordination of assessment and
data actions among all interested entities including FHPs and LCCs; inform Board and key
audiences of the direction and products of the National Fish Habitat Assessment and its
integral data system; and seek new resources and partnerships from appropriate entities and
groups to increase efficiency and the quality of the National Fish Habitat Assessment.
Resources: $12,000 to support state agency Science and Data Committee Co-Chair travel for
six trips @ $2,000 each to include 2 NFHP Board meetings, 2 AFWA meetings and 2 other
trips to be determined by opportunities.


o Develop new science and data products from existing and new Fish Habitat Partnership
assessment databases to further support FHP habitat analysis and the Board’s 2015 National
Fish Habitat Assessment.  Key FHP datasets will be identified by the Science and Data
Committee and these data along with appropriate analytical tools will be integrated into the
Board’s Data System for wider inter-FHP habitat assessment efforts.
Resources: $70,000 to support additional GIS specialist time to integrate FHP datasets and
develop associated analytical tools.


o Continue to develop selected socioeconomic data and analyses to support decision making by
the Board and FHPs.  This work will focus on continuing and expanding the currently funded
work to attribute and incorporate appropriate socioeconomic data into the existing Board
Data System.
Resources: $35,000 to support specialist work to acquire and integrate socioeconomic data
into the Board Data System with the development of a limited set of appropriate analytical
tools for the proper analysis of these data by FHPs and Board.


Key Areas Without Full Resources for FY2014: 


o Strengthening the science foundation of the National Fish Habitat Partnership Board’s
National Assessment by determining the best approaches for incorporating data on
connectivity, hydrology and marine fish and shellfish.  These were all gaps in the Assessment
that were consistently identified by reviewers and FHPs.
Resources Needed: $300,000 for 2.0 FTEs and workshops to fully develop strategy to be
combined with $100,000 in matching resources from USGS.







National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 6 


o Refinement of the National Fish Habitat Partnership Board’s National Assessment by
initiating the filling analytical gaps on connectivity, hydrology and in the marine assessment
identified by National Fish Habitat Board (Board) and Fish Habitat Partnerships (FHPs) in
the 2010 National Fish Habitat Assessment (Assessment).
Resources Needed: $150,000 for 2.0 FTEs to fill key gaps in the Marine Assessment to be
combined with $220,000 in matching resources from NOAA- Fisheries.


o Strengthening the science foundation of the National Fish Habitat Partnership Board’s
National Assessment by developing standardized effectiveness measurements for FHPs’
connectivity projects which will include developing new methods to incorporate fine-scale
system process information from FHP projects.  This task was requested by the Board.
Resources Needed: $206,000 for 2.0 FTEs to develop standardized connectivity
effectiveness measures that will be combined with up to $177,500 from USGS.


o Fully developing and attributing of detailed socioeconomic data and analyses on the same
geospatial scale as habitat assessment to improve conservation planning abilities of the Board
and FHPs.  This information was requested for inclusion into the Assessment by the Board.
Resources Needed: $100,000 to contract for the acquisition and attribution of
socioeconomic data.


Report Prepared By: 


Andrea Ostroff, US Geological Survey 
Gary Whelan, MI Department of Natural Resources 
October 8, 2013 







National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 6 


Attachment 1 – Current Progress on the 2015 Inland Assessment for the National Fish Habitat 
Partnership (NFHP) 


Dana Infante (infanted@msu.edu ) and Wesley Daniel (danielwe@msu.edu) 
Department of Fisheries and Wildlife, Michigan State University (MSU) 


The National Fish Habitat Partnership calls for a status assessment of all fish habitats within the 
United States every 5 years beginning in 2010.  MSU has been working in support of NFHP to 
conduct assessments for inland water bodies in the conterminous United States, Alaska, and 
Hawaii since 2006.  This has involved developing a consistent and comprehensive spatial 
framework for organizing data and results, compiling and generating suitable GIS databases for 
use in assessment, completing an initial, proof-of-concept assessment for the conterminous 
United States in 2009, refining this assessment and conducting initial assessments for Alaska 
and Hawaii for 2010, and beginning the next assessments due by 2015.  Since 2006, MSU has 
engaged with multiple Partnerships and other stakeholders to share data and analytical 
approaches for use in regional assessment efforts, modeling activities, and development of 
decision support tools to aid in conservation and management of fish habitat nationally.  
Following are highlights of data improvements to be incorporated into the 2015 assessments: 


Conterminous United States 


o The 2006 National Land Cover Dataset, estimates of atmospheric deposition of pollutants, and
estimates of nutrient loading to waterbodies are being attributed to the spatial framework and
evaluated for assessment.


o Reach-specific measures of river
fragmentation by large dams are being
developed and tested for assessment.


o A new data layer is being developed to
characterize influences of coal and
uranium mining activities.


o Stream buffers will be incorporated
into the spatial framework, and
multiple disturbances will be
summarized and tested within buffers
for assessment.


Alaska 


o Subcatchments have been
delineated for river reaches in a portion of southeast Alaska, and landscape disturbances 
summarized within these units are being tested for the 2015 assessment. 


Hawaii 


Figure 1.  Scores developed for the 2010 assessment of habitat conditions in 
river reaches of the conterminous United States (Esselman et al. 2013). 



mailto:infanted@msu.edu

mailto:danielwe@msu.edu





National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 6 


o Data characterizing stream fish assemblages have been provided by the Hawaii Department of
Aquatic Resources and other partners.  These data will be used to characterize the natural potential
of stream reaches throughout the state and to understand assemblage response to landscape
disturbances.







Science and 
Technology


Background
The National Fish Habitat Partnership (NFHP) is a voluntary, regionally-based 
consortium focused on protection, restoration, and enhancement of important 
fish habitats across North America. The National Fish Habitat Action Plan calls for 
national assessments of U.S. aquatic habitats every five years, beginning in 2010. These 
assessments provide national perspectives on fish habitat and complement and support 
assessment efforts by regional Fish Habitat Partnerships (FHPs). The goals of the 2015 
National Fish Habitat Assessment are to provide a comprehensive analysis of the relative 
condition of fish habitats at national and regional scales, identify intact and degraded 
habitats, define key disturbance factors, and illustrate the scope and effectiveness of 
habitat conservation activities over time.  


With the 2010 marine assessment, the NOAA marine assessment team established a 
multiscale geospatial framework and assembled an index of estuary condition based on 
national data sets of landscape disturbance. To fill in gaps identified from the 2010 effort, 
we are developing a new regional assessment methodology that integrates information 
on fish and shellfish distribution and abundance, enabling us to relate habitat condition 
to effects on fish populations and communities. This regional approach also improves 
collaboration and coordination with FHPs and other regional stakeholders and promotes 
better incorporation of regional habitat concerns. 


National Fish Habitat Partnership
Marine Assessment Update – September 2013


N
O


A
A


For More Information 
fishhabitat.org 
ecosystems.usgs.gov/fishhabitat/


Science and Technology | 2015 National Fish Habitat Assessment


U.S. Department of Commerce | National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration | National Marine Fisheries Service


 2015 National Fish Habitat Assessment
Attachment 2 – Current Progress on the 2015 Marine Assessment for the National Fish Habitat 
Partnership (NFHP)







Assessment Approach
We are in the final stages of developing an 
assessment of estuaries in the northern 
Gulf of Mexico. This project serves as a 
demonstration of a standard approach 
for comparing estuary condition relative 
to anthropogenic stress gradients and 
identifying key stressors and the scale at 
which they exert the greatest influence. 


In the absence of wide-scale, high-
resolution habitat data, we sought to 
use fish presence and abundance as 
indicators reflecting the condition of 
the local habitats where they live, feed, 
and reproduce. We assembled a rich 
data set consisting of 30+ years of trawl 
survey data collected by both state and 
national programs, as well as time-
varying landscape environmental data 
(land use/land cover, population density, 
nutrients, pollution, river flow, estuary 
eutrophication, and estuary hydro-
geomorphic class) and local habitat and 
disturbance data (depth, temperature, 
salinity, dissolved oxygen, Secchi depth, 
turbidity, and pH). 


We attributed data to a hierarchical 
nested geospatial framework consisting of 
estuary, shoreline, estuarine drainage area, 
and basin units, as well as a variety of 
geopolitical boundaries for classifying and 
comparing results. The 45 estuary units in 
the northern Gulf of Mexico are the focus 
of the current analysis.


We used statistical models to 
systematically evaluate species sensitivities 
to stressors originating from the estuary 
shoreline, in the coastal watershed, or 


within the entire upstream river basin. 
Models give us the power to account 
for systematic biases resulting from 
methodological differences between 
sampling programs, filter out natural 
factors that may be affecting population 
patterns, and isolate variation resulting 
from anthropogenic stressors. 


After preliminary data evaluation, we 
developed screening tools to rapidly 
assess the 100s of possible species and 
community metrics with the goal of 
identifying a subset of indicators that are 
most responsive to environmental stress. 
We then used the indicators identified 
in the screening step to model species 
and community response to stress 
and identify the influence and scale of 
stressors. Additionally, we identified 
stressor thresholds across which changes 
to populations and communities occur. 
Finally, we used the species-level response 
results to compare and map biological 
condition between estuaries in the 
northern Gulf of Mexico. 


Next Steps 
Final assessment results for estuaries 
in the northern Gulf of Mexico will be 
available in October 2013. We will next 
begin work on an assessment of estuaries 
for the Pacific Coast, in cooperation 
with the Pacific Marine and Estuarine 
Partnership and other regional parties. 
We are also consulting with the Atlantic 
Coast Fish Habitat Partnership and 
North Atlantic Landscape Conservation 
Cooperative on the beginning stages of a 
regional coastal assessment for the North 
Atlantic. 


How to Get Involved
Our assessment products will contribute 
towards a variety of regional science 
needs and provide a tool for prioritizing 
conservation efforts. We are looking for 
partners to help integrate regional needs 
and goals into the marine assessment. 
Here’s how you can get involved:


• Describe your regional habitat science 
and management needs


• Contribute data  and provide local 
expertise


• Help identify important indicators or 
species of concern for your region


• Provide feedback on assessment 
approach


• Integrate assessment methods into 
regional assessment efforts


Questions or comments?
Contact Kristan Blackhart, NFHP Coastal Assessment Coordinator
kristan.blackhart@noaa.gov 


N
O


A
A


Data assembly and evaluation Rapid screening of candidate 
indicators and stressors


Modeling indicator tolerances to stressors
Mapping and 


management synthesis


Assessment Steps


Science and Technology | 2015 National Fish Habitat Assessment


U.S. Department of Commerce | National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration | National Marine Fisheries Service





		Tab_6

		Science and Data Committee 2013 Report October 2013 - Attachment 2 NFHP Coastal Asmt Summary










National Fish Habitat Board October 
22-23, 2013 


Tab 7a 


Title:   Communications Committee 


Desired Outcome:  An informational briefing to the Board on the Communications Committee’s 
progress towards its 2013 work plan and a recommendation for the Communications 
Committee’s priorities in 2014. 


Background:  At its October 2012 Meeting, the Board tasked the Communications Committee 
with addressing the following priority issues during 2013: 


Task A - Continue building the partner coalition database and increase engagement with the 
partner coalition. 


Task B -Increase use of video to document work of Fish Habitat Partnerships. 


Task C - Increase partner engagement on fishhabitat.org, and increase science and data page 
functionality. 


Task D - Establish a regular schedule of meetings for the communications committee and include 
more FHP members on the committee. 


Task E - Review and make needed changes to the communications strategy. 


2013 Priority Progress: 
Task A – We increased the number of events at which NFHP exhibited in 2013.  Those events 
included the Trout Unlimited National Capitol Chapter Expo, 2013 River Rally and the 2013 
conference of the American Fisheries Society.  Members of the Communications Committee and 
Fish Habitat Partnerships held a workshop at River Rally 2013.  We grew the Partnership 
Coalition by over 300 individuals and organizations in 2013 as a direct result of these efforts.   


Task B – We are producing three short informational videos on work that Fish Habitat 
Partnerships are doing to conserve fish habitat on-the-ground.  These videos will highlight 
partner collaboration as an important tool in maximizing project impact.  A story board has been 
created for the first video and a preview of the video should be available in November 2013.  
Video has been shot for the two additional projects for this task. 


Task C – Minor enhancements were made to the Board Resources page.  We anticipate Science 
& Data page improvements to support the map viewer.  A contract for basic website maintenance 
is in place with DJ Case through the end of 2015.    


Task D - The Communications Committee met six times in 2013 and has focused on establishing 
partnership priorities, expanding FHP membership to the committee, expanding the reach of the 







National Fish Habitat Board October 
22-23, 2013 


Tab 7a 


Waters to Watch Campaign and identified ways to best communicate conservation success 
stories of the FHPs. 


Task E – The communications strategy was updated and approved by the Board at its February 
2013 Board Meeting.  Updates to the strategy for 2014 will be addressed at this meeting. 


2014 Priority Recommendations: 
1. Expand the public relations campaign for the 10 Waters to Watch program.
2. Establish a working group with the Board, the USFWS, and industry to develop


messaging related to the core principles of NFHP.  This is the first step in developing a
national campaign to connect the National Fish Habitat Partnership and the FHPs with
anglers.


3. Create web resources to share Fish Habitat Partnership information and activities
including FHP project summaries.


4. Expand reach of social media reach through targeted post promotions.
5. Expand the NFHP presence at select events.







1 | P a g e   ( D R A F T ) 


National Fish Habitat Board 
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 7a 


 


C O M M U N I C AT I O N S 
S T R AT E G Y 
2014 DRAFT REVI SIO N 


 
 


Committee Members: 
 
Ryan Roberts, 


  
 
 


Kayla Barrett, Desert Fish 
NFHP Communications Dianne Timmins, Habitat Partnership, 
Coordinator (Chair) Cold Water Fisheries U.S. Fish and Wildlife 


 Biologist, EBTJV, N. Service 
Laura MacLean, Hampshire Fish & Game  
Director of Department Callie McMunigal, Eastern 
Communications and  Brook Trout Joint Venture, 
Marketing, Association of Jeanne Hanson, U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Fish & Wildlife Agencies Field Office Supervisor, Service 
(Vice Chair) Habitat Conservation  


 Division, Alaska Region, Board Liaison(s) 
Lindsay Gardner, National Oceanic and Chris Meaney, National 
Communications Atmospheric Oceanic and Atmospheric 
Coordinator, Southeast Administration (NOAA) Administration (NOAA) 
Aquatic Resources Fisheries  
Partnership  Tom Busiahn, 


 Thomas Litts, Georgia NFHP Coordinator, 
Kris Gamble, Department of Natural U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Public Affairs, National Resources (Science and Service 
Oceanic and Atmospheric Data Committee liaison)  
Administration (NOAA)  Board Oversight 


 Katie Haws, Mike Andrews, 
Joe Starinchak, Project Manager, Midwest Vice President, 
Outreach Coordinator, Glacial Lakes Partnership The Nature Conservancy 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife   
Service Cecilia Lewis, Krystyna Wolniakowski, 


 Reservoir Fish Habitat Director, National Fish and 
Maureen Gallagher, Partnership, Wildlife Foundation-NW 
Midwest Regional U.S. Fish and Wildlife  
Coordinator, U.S. Fish and Service  
Wildlife Service   


 







2 | P a g e   ( D R A F T ) 


2 0 1 4 C O M M U N I C AT I O N S 
  S T R A T E G Y   


B A C K G R O U N D 
 


 


The communications strategy for the National Fish Habitat Partnership is critical to 
issuing and promoting a common message and synergy among the Board, state 
agencies, federal caucus, fish habitat partnerships and developing “candidate” fish 
habitat partnerships and the national fish habitat partner coalition. The strategy also 
emphasizes the importance of maintaining the National Fish Habitat Partnership as a 
state-led effort in cooperation with our other partners. 


 
This communications strategy framework guides the mission of the National Fish Habitat 
Partnership, as it strives to build an engaged community concerned with the 
conservation of our nation’s aquatic habitats. The communications strategy as described 
in this document, will be implemented and, managed by the communications committee, 
and overseen by the National Fish Habitat Board to help meet the objectives set forth by 
the 2nd Edition of the National Fish Habitat Action Plan. 


 
The direction of overall communications through the communications committee will 
improve the National Fish Habitat Partnership and make it a vehicle to engage additional 
partners as well as fuel the further growth of the Partners Coalition, bringing new 
opportunities to expand the constituency base of existing Fish Habitat Partnerships. 


 
The committee emphasizes the value of communications as a tool for fostering lasting, 
productive relationships among diverse partners. These relationships are what makes all 
our efforts to revive fisheries and waterways effective and builds credibility with a 
growing audience. 


 
Priority actions of this strategy are based on objectives 3 and 5 from the 2nd Edition of 
the National Fish Habitat Action Plan (Published 2012): 


 
Objective 3: 
Broaden the community of support for fish habitat conservation by increasing fishing 
opportunities, fostering the participation of local communities –especially young people – 
in conservation activities, and raising public awareness of the role healthy fish habitats 
play in the quality of life and economic well- being of local communities. 


 
Objective 5: 
Communicate the conservation outcomes produced collectively by Fish Habitat 
Partnerships as well as new opportunities and voluntary approaches for conserving fish 
habitat to the public and conservation partners. 


 







3 | P a g e   ( D R A F T ) 


PRI O RI TY AC TI O NS 
 


 
OBJECTIVE 3: 


 


1. Foster partnerships with organizations to increase reach of NFHP marketing and 
communications. 


 
 


2. Increase media reach of “Waters to Watch” campaign. “Waters to Watch” is the top 
vehicle for making an impact by strategically choosing projects of highest importance to 
communities across the country.  Projects that involve the support and assistance of 
local communities and offer educational opportunities to youth are a high priority. 


 
 


3. Create a grant program database for FHPs to utilize to find funding and 
partnership resources. This database would be navigable regionally and 
species/watershed specific. 
 


4. Utilize video to enhance visibility and “story telling” capacity of conservation 
success of the National Fish Habitat Partnership conservation projects.   
 


5. Coordinate efforts to ensure that objectives of the federal MOU and the AFWA 
state resolution are being met and ensuring agencies (state and federal) 
understand and value the critical work of NFHP.   


 
 
 


OBJECTIVE 5: 
 
 


1. Create tools and informational items for FHPs and NFHP partners to tell the story of 
NFHP and clearly explain the value of aquatic habitat conservation and value added in 
working through partnership with other organizations. 


 
 


2. Explore new potential opportunities through FHPs to work with new organizations to 
expand partners working under the National Fish Habitat Partnership. These 
opportunities to work with new partners would be influenced by specific project areas in 
which the FHPs are working on conservation projects. 


 
 


3. Expand use and gather additional data on socio-economic benefits of the National 
Fish Habitat Partnership as it relates to cost benefits and improving recreational 
angling opportunities for the American people. 


 
 


4. Create tools for promotion of the National Fish Habitat Conservation Act for FHP and 
partner utilization for meeting with constituents and for project site visits. 


 







4 | P a g e   ( D R A F T ) 


 
 
 


PRI M ARY F UN C TI O N O F THE CO M M UN I C ATI O N S C O M M I TT EE 
 


 
• Serving in an advisory capacity to the National Fish Habitat Board and its 


staff, particularly in identifying outreach opportunities and potential 
challenges related to policy decisions. Committee members have different 
levels of expertise, some in marketing, some in communications and others with 
a familiarity of working with broad partnerships to expand their appeal. Working 
together, the committee will operate in the most succinct manner possible, 
recognizing that individual efforts may be limited to advance the communications 
effort.  Despite a short and long term focus now established, further support and 
investment will be needed to meet the goals of the committee. 


• Developing professional communications materials to keep partners fully 
informed, foster mutually beneficial relationships, and encourage new 
partners to join Fish Habitat Partnerships. The committee will continue to 
develop communications materials that are cohesive and complementary in 
message, design, and delivery to have the greatest impact for advancement of 
the work of the National Fish Habitat Partnership. 


 
• Maintain and fulfill a list of measurable outcomes for the work of the 


communications committee and Fish Habitat Partnerships. A list of 
outcomes will be maintained and built upon to show measurable results in terms 
of growth in media placement for Waters to Watch and other Fish Habitat 
Partnership related products. Growing the National Fish Habitat Partnership 
Partner Coalition will be viewed as the ultimate outcome measure. 


 
• Foster partnerships with organizations specializing in marketing and 


communications. The committee will work to build mutually beneficial 
relationships with other organizations aimed at enhancing the brand and 
recognition of the Partnership. 


 
• Advance the work of the Fish Habitat Partnerships. The committee 


recognizes the most important factor to promote through the National Fish 
Habitat Partnership is the work of the individual Fish Habitat Partnerships  FHPs 
are the work units of the National Fish Habitat Partnership. The work of the Fish 
Habitat Partnerships, are of the utmost importance to showcase, especially how 
addressing the objectives in the National Fish Habitat Action Plan is making a 
difference. Input by the Fish Habitat Partnerships is critical to making this 
function of the committee a reality.  Project updates and reports that show the 
Action Plan making a significant impact will be essential to elevating the work of 
the Fish Habitat Partnership and gaining recognition through media outlets.  Full 
establishment of a “10 Waters to Watch” subcommittee will help tell the story of 
NFHP. 


 
• Advance the passage of the National Fish Habitat Conservation Act. 


Coordinate with our legislative team to create the best communications support 
materials to help advance the passage of the National Fish Habitat Conservation 


 







5 | P a g e   ( D R A F T ) 


Act. This is a primary objective for the committee to focus on as directed by the 
National Fish Habitat Board. 


 
 


CO M M UNI C ATI O N S NE TW O R KS 
 


 
National Fish Habitat Partnership communications target the following primary networks 
to build awareness, support, engagement, advocacy, and action in various forms. The 
committee will work through these networks to reach out to their constituencies and local 
groups. 


 
(Internal): 
National Fish Habitat Board 
Promotion of the Board’s leadership, coordination, and facilitation role, and supporting 
the Board in its role as ambassadors and influential advocates for the National Fish 
Habitat Partnership in policy arenas is critical for communicating Board progress. 


 
Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies and State Agencies 
Communications will support the Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies (AFWA) in 
serving as the main conduit for communications with state fish and wildlife agencies. 
Communications will also support AFWA’s role in assisting states align priorities and 
resources for Fish Habitat Partnerships. AFWA serves as a direct link to State Fish and 
Wildlife Agency Directors and other related staff contacts, which are critical to informing 
and seeking input on the work of the Partnership. The relationship with AFWA also 
provides opportunities to brief state leadership on the National Fish Habitat Partnership. 


 
Federal Caucus 
Communications will also benefit the cohesiveness of the National Fish Habitat Federal 
Caucus, by informing the Caucus of initiatives of the Communications Committee at 
scheduled meetings led by the US Fish & Wildlife Service. Working to inform policy 
makers and political appointees within federal agencies, on the work of the National Fish 
Habitat Partnership, will be critical to advancing our efforts and helping them to 
recognize the work of the partnership as a priority within their agencies. Working with 
the Federal Caucus on emphasizing the importance of the National Fish Habitat 
Partnership MOU and getting the word out about the requisite reports will be critical to 
the Partnership’s importance within Federal Agencies. 


 
Partner Coalition 
The Partner Coalition will serve as an outlet for information sharing as well as spreading 
the word about the role of NFHP in a grass roots manner.  Growing the number of 
partners in the Coalition is a priority for 2013. 


 
Fish Habitat Partnerships 
Developing compelling communications that strategically illustrate what the National Fish 
Habitat Partnership is all about is one of the most important contributions the committee 
can make.  Fish habitat conservation projects are the marketable force for 
communications, rather than the Action Plan. More visibility and emphasis on Fish 
Habitat Partnerships through website updates and media outreach will be a key to 
growing a community of support that will assist in the efforts to obtain long-term 
sustainable funding for partnerships and their conservation actions. 


 







6 | P a g e   ( D R A F T ) 


CO M M UNI C ATI O N S CH AN N E LS 
 


 
Broader visibility through the media will help grow the community of support for the 
National Fish Habitat Partnership and shine a light on the work of Fish Habitat 
Partnerships, as well as significantly influence future policies and investments. The “10 
Waters to Watch” campaign is the most visible element of the National Fish Habitat 
Action Plan to date with regards to gaining media attention. Building upon this current 
level of media attention and coordinating visits to “10 Waters to Watch” project sites with 
media outlets and policy makers will help increase awareness of the Partnership and 
Action Plan, as well as the Fish Habitat Partnerships. 


 
Website 
The revamped www.fishhabitat.org webpage was launched in June of 2012 and is the 
most critical component of National Fish Habitat Partnership communications as it’s the 
main source of broadcasting information. The website is our “newspaper” and it houses 
all of the relevant documents for the Partnership. In the technologically savvy world that 
exists today our website needs to be direct and succinct if we are to be successful in 
getting our messages out. There is a need to clarify the working parts of the National 
Fish Habitat Partnership, in an understandable format, since the Partnership operates at 
a number of different levels.  At the core of the Partnership is the National Fish Habitat 
Action Plan. The National Fish Habitat Board oversees implementation of the Action 
Plan and establishes guidance and policies for Fish Habitat Partnerships and the 
Partnership overall. The individual Fish Habitat Partnerships are the primary working 
units of the Partnership, which are strategically focused on protecting, restoring and 
enhancing fish habitat at a landscape scale. 


 
Social Media 
The National Fish Habitat Partnership currently has a social media presence on 
Facebook, Twitter and LinkedIn and has a news curating program called Scoop.it that 
digs for news articles related to fish habitat in general. Working to expand our reach in 
these mediums has brought in additional partner coalition members in support of the 
National Partnership and will expand the NFHP email database capacity.  A presence in 
social media is important and serves as a forum to relay stories about the achievements 
occurring under the guidance of the Action Plan. Staying current with these mediums is 
important if we want to stay on the cutting edge of the social media fronts. In the ever- 
changing environment of press outreach, social media is one of the Partnerships far 
reaching tools we have to utilize effectively. 


 
Trade Shows/Meeting Exhibits 
Maintaining a presence among our constituents, by having displays at Trade shows and 
meetings across the country will help advance the work and reach of the National Fish 
Habitat Partnership. Whenever possible we will work to get out in front of these 
audiences to help grow our community of support.  (2014 Targeted Events – Exhibit A) 


 
Email Newsletters 
E- mail newsletters are another source of communication and are the chief outreach tool 
for maintaining contact with our Partner Coalition. Newsletters are the most succinct way 
to reach out to this audience and inform them about Fish Habitat Partnership news both 
locally and nationally.  Our newsletter database program is better suited for our current 
needs through the new fishhabitat.org website. 


 



http://www.fishhabitat.org/





7 | P a g e   ( D R A F T ) 


 


Other Outreach Tools 
• National Fish Habitat Action Plan (“one-pager”) 
• Annual Update 
• State Fact sheets created for “Status Report” 
• National Fish Habitat Partnership Map 
• 10 Waters to Watch fact/update sheets 


 
PowerPoint Presentations 
A compilation of National Fish Habitat PowerPoint presentations on the core elements of 
the Action Plan will be made available on the web for partner use.   A NFHP template 
PowerPoint presentation is currently available for use by partners. 


 
 
Marketing Signage 
A “traveling display” describing core elements of the Partnership has been created, and 
will be updated and refined as needed to meet the desires of the committee and Board. 
This will assist partners in establishing a prominent presence at major conferences and 
other venues with the potential to expand brand awareness and support for the National 
Fish Habitat Partnership. 


 
 
 
 


CO M M UNI C ATI O N S G UI D ANCE  
 


 
Brand Enhancement Guidance 
The National Fish Habitat Board approved a change to enhance our brand as The 
National Fish Habitat Partnership in 2011. Our brand is reflective of what we are to all 
audiences, so we want to present a clear picture of our identity to policy makers, 
constituents, volunteers and colleagues in the conservation community. Enhancing our 
brand and raising our profile needs to be a top priority for the National Fish Habitat 
Partnership. This effort will enhance fundraising opportunities and promote our mission. 
The image and influence of the National Fish Habitat Partnership brand will clearly 
communicate our strengths. The full Guidance can be found 
here:  http://fishhabitat.org/FHP_resource 


 


Logo Guide and Style 
Sheet:  http://fishhabitat.org/FHP_resource 


 


Social Media Guidance (Exhibit B) 
 
 
2014 Trade Shows/Meeting Exhibits-(Exhibit A)* 


 
Association of Conservation Districts Annual Meeting 
February 2-5, Anaheim, CA.   
http://www.nacdnet.org/events/annualmeeting  
 
 
 


 



http://fishhabitat.org/FHP_resource

http://fishhabitat.org/FHP_resource

http://www.nacdnet.org/events/annualmeeting





8 | P a g e   ( D R A F T ) 


River Network River Rally (W/ Water Keeper Alliance) 
May 30- June 2, Pittsburgh, PA.   
http://www.rivernetwork.org/events/river-rally  


 
American Fisheries Society  
August 17-21, Quebec City, 
Canada  http://afs2013.com/afs-2014-quebec-city-
canada/ 


 


 
 
* Other events may be targeted by the Communications Committee in 2014. This 
list does not include other related events meetings for 2014. 


 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 



http://www.rivernetwork.org/events/river-rally

http://afs2013.com/afs-2014-quebec-city-canada/

http://afs2013.com/afs-2014-quebec-city-canada/





9 | P a g e   ( D R A F T ) 


 
Social Media Guidance - (Exhibit B) 


 
Overview 
The National Fish Habitat Partnership’s Social Media Guidance is based on promoting 
the conservation practices of the National Fish Habitat Partnership and individual Fish 
Habitat Partnerships respectively. The guidance contained in this document should 
serve as advised practices for use of Facebook, Twitter and You Tube. If your Fish 
Habitat Partnership is currently using social media, please apply these long-tested 
principles to the social media space. The Social Media Guidelines are designed to 
advance the National Fish Habitat Partnership brand on social networks. 


 
 


KEY SOCIAL MEDIA CHANNELS AND CONSIDERATIONS FOR USE 
 


There are many social media channels available to users, and new channels are being 
introduced frequently. As such, it would be impossible to provide information on all of 
them. We will focus on three of the most popular and most applicable to the National 
Fish Habitat Partnership. Those channels are Facebook, Twitter, and LinkedIn. 


 
Facebook 
Facebook is a wonderful way to form online communities where groups of people 
can gather to have conversations and share information. Indeed, the National 
Fish Habitat Partnership and Fish Habitat Partnerships are already using 
Facebook to communicate about their work in aquatic conservation. Of course, 
creating and maintaining a Facebook page is a big responsibility and should not 
be entered into lightly. 


 
It may be valuable to think of a Facebook page as meeting that is always open, 
always going on, and where members of the public and partners may drop by 
and watch or participate at any time of day or night. But it’s also easy to see how, 
if left unstructured or unattended by page administrators this never-ending 
meeting could easily become a problem. 


 
When considering whether or not Facebook might be a good option, it is 
important to remember that Facebook requires all users to be at least 13 years of 
age. Before creating a Facebook page, you should educate yourself about what 
Facebook is and how it is used, and familiarize yourself with its terms of service. 
This will help you navigate carefully in your development of a fan page and when 
creating a Facebook page, you should make it a public fan page. 


 
Perhaps the biggest strength of Facebook is also its biggest weakness: 
Facebook fan pages are open to the public, which means any information shared 
on that fan page can be viewed by essentially anyone. As such, you should 
make sure that any information shared on that page by you or by your fans is 
information that is appropriate to share with the public. This is especially true 
regarding the level of detail you provide representing the partnership. 
 
Once you have created a Facebook fan page, invited people to “like” your page 
and started gathering “fans,” it is important for you to post good and appropriate 


 







10 | P a g e   ( D R A F T 
 


content and monitor the content that is posted to your wall. Unfortunately, not all 
the content posted to the wall by your fans may be appropriate. Content that 
does not meet that standard should be removed immediately. 
 
If a user posts highly offensive content, the content should be removed 
immediately, and you may need to block or ban the user who posted it. Such an 
action should not be used liberally but only when content is truly objectionable. 
 
This type of careful monitoring requires vigilance. Before creating a Facebook 
page, you should consider whether you or someone else who will administer the 
page will be able to monitor that page and post content consistently to help 
ensure that only appropriate content is posted. Pages with inconsistent and 
infrequent updates can cause your fans to become disinterested, and your page 
can become a target for spammers or other predatory parties who recognize that 
you appear not to be actively involved on your page. 
 
Twitter 
Because of its 140-character-per-post limit and relative lack of multimedia 
capabilities, Twitter is designed for quick, simple updates and also can be used 
like instant messaging or email to have conversations with one or more people in 
a mostly public forum. 
 
Twitter can be a great place to share quick observations, provide updates about 
programs, share training deadlines, link to other websites with event details, 
share great Scouting stories, and have an informal conversation with followers. 
In general, Twitter has a more personal voice, meaning posts on Twitter are 
expected to be relatively informal and friendly. It is also important to remember 
that Twitter is a public forum and is viewable by virtually anyone. That means 
content placed on Twitter should be acceptable to your specific intended 
audience of followers as well as a wider audience. 
 
Some direct-messaging capabilities exist with Twitter and utilizing in the right 
context can help with dialogue with followers. 
 
Twitter should be updated regularly and watched closely so responses can be 
provided to people requesting information or trying to start a conversation. 
 
 
LinkedIn 
Group pages can be a powerful way to connect with other business people in a 
meaningful way. It won’t thrive if you don’t nurture it. 
 
Creating a Group is an easy way to bring professionals together online. A 
  
LinkedIn Group makes sense for colleges, alumni groups, non-profit 
organizations, special interest groups, and more. 
 
To get started, navigate to the “Groups” link on the left side of your page, and 
click on the “Create a Group” link. Upload a logo, choose a unique name, and 
enter supporting details such as description, summary, and website link. 
If you want others to be able to find your group when they search, check the 


 







11 | P a g e   ( D R A F T 
 


“Display this group in the Groups Directory” box. In addition, you can choose 
whether or not members can display the group logo on their profiles. 
 
Once your group is created, you can navigate to the group under the “Groups” 
link on the left side bar. Navigate to your group and click on the “Manage” tab on 
your group to get started. From here you can manage membership, invitations, 
and add group managers. 
 
LinkedIn does not invite members to join your group, you must invite your 
members to join. To invite members to your group, you have a few options. If you 
already have a list of members that should be in your group you can “pre- 
approve” them, so that when they request to join the group they will be 
automatically accepted. What you need is a spreadsheet with their name and 
email address. You would upload the file directly by clicking on the “Invite 
Members” link and uploading the file under “Batch Pre-approved Members”. 
Alternatively, you can manually pre-approve members. 
 
If you would like to block certain members from joining your group, click on the 
“Remove & Block” button on the “Manage” tab and choose which members you 
want removed and blocked from joining your user group. 
 
If you’ve created a group, you are the group owner and manager by default. If 
you wish to share the management responsibility with others, you can promote a 
member to become manager of the group. To add another manager, click on the 
“Members” link, and next click the “Promote to manager” link next to the person 
you want to add as a manager. You can remove that user as a manager by 
clicking on the “Managers” link and selecting the “Remove as manager” option. 
 
In addition, you can also transfer complete ownership of a group to another 
manager. To do this, select the “Change owner” link and select another manager 
to take over ownership of the group. 
 


 
Tips to live before you post:  
Think of CNN, your mother and your boss 
Don't say anything online that you wouldn't be comfortable seeing quoted on 
CNN, being asked about by your mother or having to justify to your boss. 
  
Add value 
Sharing of information and experiences benefits the entire fisheries conservation 
community and ultimately our partners. Feel free to share and discuss your 
experiences in campaigns, field and within your partnerships. Use common 
sense in your social media practices where information is concerned that is 
internal and/or confidential. If in doubt - ask the owner of the information you 
want to share. 
 
Spread the word and connect with your colleagues and other related 
organizations.  Connect with them through social networks and spread their 
success stories 


 







11 | P a g e   ( D R A F T ) 


 


 





		Tab_7a_Communications_Report

		Tab_7a_

		2 0 1 4 C O M M U N I C AT I O N S

		Objective 3:

		Objective 5:

		PRI O RI TY AC TI O NS

		OBJECTIVE 5:

		PRI M ARY F UN C TI O N O F THE CO M M UN I C ATI O N S C O M M I TT EE

		CO M M UNI C ATI O N S NE TW O R KS

		(Internal):

		Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies and State Agencies

		Federal Caucus

		Partner Coalition

		Fish Habitat Partnerships

		CO M M UNI C ATI O N S CH AN N E LS

		Website

		Social Media

		Trade Shows/Meeting Exhibits

		Email Newsletters

		Other Outreach Tools

		PowerPoint Presentations

		Marketing Signage

		CO M M UNI C ATI O N S G UI D ANCE

		Association of Conservation Districts Annual Meeting February 2-5, Anaheim, CA.   http://www.nacdnet.org/events/annualmeeting     River Network River Rally (W/ Water Keeper Alliance)

		* Other events may be targeted by the Communications Committee in 2014. This list does not include other related events meetings for 2014.



		Overview

		KEY SOCIAL MEDIA CHANNELS AND CONSIDERATIONS FOR USE

		Facebook










 
National Fish Habitat Board 


October 22-23, 2013 
Tab 7b 


 


PARADIGM SHIFT 
 


The concepts of marketing and 
branding are closely related to 
selling, and this is something the 
conservation community has not 
traditionally engaged in.  Instead, 
activities like information, 
education and outreach have 
been used to “raise awareness” 
and promote conservation 
behaviors.  But, given the growing 
complexity of the issues we’re 
facing and the demographic and 
technological changes, more 
effective methods are needed to 
communicate and engage people 
to help conserve our aquatic 
habitat resources.   


 


Title:   Recommendations to the Board about next steps in marketing NFHP with private sector help. 
 
Desired outcome:  Board approval of Collaborative Action Plan involving NFHP, Patagonia, Fishpond, 
Costa Sunglasses and the Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS or Service). 
 
Background:  Given the challenges we are facing, there is an emerging recognition amongst 
conservationists that the community has to change the way it conducts its business; however, the specifics 
of this change are unclear.  At the October 2011 meeting, the NFHP Board became exposed to this 
thinking about change via a presentation from Joe Starinchak of the FWS.  The Service has convened an 
informal collaborative group, which includes sustainable businesses, social, financial and environmental 
entrepreneurs and is focused on connecting the economy to the environment at a landscape scale.  Then, 
at its February 2013 meeting, the Board agreed to pursue a corporate engagement strategy, led by Chris 
Horton with Joe Starinchak’s assistance.  As a follow-up, Joe gave another presentation to the Board at its 
Salt Lake meeting in June.  The key point of this presentation was that the “outreach” that is currently 
being relied upon is insufficient for engaging the private sector.  Developing such a strategy requires… 1) 
a paradigm shift, 2) the creation of a viable NFHP brand, and 3) the need to effectively market this brand 
with the involvement of the private sector. 
 
Later, a meeting took place with NFHP staff; David Hoskins, the new FWS Fisheries AD and Johnny Le 
Coq, the head of Fishpond, a fishing and outdoor gear company.  Johnny made a passionate appeal to 
become part of the NHFP Board and become involved in the branding of NFHP.  Also, he persuaded 
Patagonia and Costa Sunglasses to join as advisors for the NFHP branding and marketing processes.  
 
Recommendations/Proposal:  Since a Corporate Engagement Strategy depends upon a viable brand and 
the marketing of this brand, it is recommended that NFHP undergo 
additional work to establish a firm foundation to help with the change.  
Below are some specific recommendations for the Board to consider… 
 
1) Governance – Involving private sector partners and building upon 


NFHP’s foundation to create a viable brand requires the creation of 
a shared governance mechanism to facilitate and streamline these 
processes.  By developing a single point-of-contact to work with the 
companies and a smaller proxy group to represent the Board and 
serve as liaisons between the companies will fully leverage the 
company interests in guiding a holistic NFHP marketing strategy 
and will foster the creativity involved with branding and marketing. 
 


Proposed Action Step:  Develop a collaborative governance 
mechanism to help facilitate this marketing relationship between 
NFHP, the Service, Patagonia, Fishpond and Costa Sunglasses. 
 


2) Values and Branding – Within the conservation community, many loosely use the terms branding and 
marketing without having a clear understanding about the true meaning and impact of these concepts.  
With both being grounded in the social sciences, over the past 80 years, they have combined to 
profoundly influence America’s culture.  On the surface, branding is a strategic process that is 
focused on creating a “name, term, sign, symbol or design” that is used to identify the goods and 







 
National Fish Habitat Board 


October 22-23, 2013 
Tab 7b 


 


services of a seller and differentiate them from those of other sellers.  And marketing is more of a 
tactical process that is focused on communicating the value of a product or service to customers, for 
the purpose of selling the product or service.  However, just below the surface of both concepts are 
values – the values of the buyer and the values of the seller.  When aligned, a meaningful transaction 
can occur, and this is not limited to the financial realm.  
 
Creating a brand requires you to know who you really are and what you are really good at; this is 
what serves as the basis of what you promise your customers.  It’s not enough to offer a quality 
product or service; it is important to create deep-seated brand associations within the consumer’s 
mind.  Branding is not about getting your target market to choose you over the competition, but it is 
about getting your prospects to see you as the only one that provides a solution to their problem.  So, 
how might this apply to NFHP?  I believe NFHP is about improving the quality of American’s lives 
through the collaborative, science-based conservation of fish habitat for publicly accessible waters.  
How can this create the necessary associations in the target audience’s mind so this value is clear? 
 


Proposed Action Step:  Work with the Service, Patagonia, Fishpond and Costa Sunglasses to 
define the core mission and values of NFHP, which will be the basis for the NFHP brand.  And 
expand upon this to define NFHP’s unique value so that it can be effectively leveraged to create 
partnerships with companies and anglers to enhance the future conservation of aquatic habitat. 


 
3) Marketing NFHP – The textbook definition of marketing is the process of communicating the value 


of a product or service to customers, for the purpose of selling the product or service.  However, when 
translated to more common sense terms, marketing is what you say and how you say it when you 
want to explain how awesome your product is and why people should buy it.  The key part of this 
definition is the sales context.  Because of the complexity of the times we are living in, we quite 
literally have to sell conservation, and this is what marketing can help us to do. 
 


Proposed Action Step:  Work with the Service, Patagonia, Fishpond and Costa Sunglasses to 
develop a national campaign that connects NFHP to the Regional FHPs, activates the sales and 
consumer networks of these and other forward thinking companies to elevate fish habitat 
conservation as a critical element of America’s 21st century culture. 
 


Analysis:  Generally speaking, engaging in marketing and branding is new to the larger conservation 
community and this applies to NFHP as well.  To shorten its learning curve, it is recommended that the 
NFHP Board leverage the interests of Fishpond, Patagonia and Costa Sunglasses and move ahead in 
developing a collaborative action plan with tangible milestones.    
 
o Governance  
o Develop a governance mechanism to manage the relationship with the companies that includes a 


single point-of-contact to be the liaison with the businesses and a smaller Ad Hoc Work Group to 
represent and be a bridge to the Board.  This will allow for NFHP to fully leverage the interests and 
expertise of these companies in guiding the development of a holistic marketing strategy. 


 
 Potential Implications 
• New Roles for the Board and the Regional FHPs – Engaging in this relationship will change how 


NFHP operates.  The NFHP Board has consciously provided only broad guidance for the 
Regional FHPs and has encouraged them to organize and operate organically.  This arrangement 







 
National Fish Habitat Board 


October 22-23, 2013 
Tab 7b 


 


has made NFHP very successful and is partly responsible for what the platform is today.  
However, with our complex challenges we are facing, NFHP needs increased exposure, relevance 
and ways to complement and grow its funding.  Branding and marketing can help to meet these 
needs; yet, their application requires a degree of consistency and connectivity that currently does 
not exist.  Also, applying branding and marketing to NFHP will create more formalized business 
and community engagement mechanisms, which will create an expansion of external ownership 
for the habitat projects.  While this expansion is good thing, it comes with the tradeoff of 
lessening the unilateral management of government agencies.   


 
o Values, Branding & Marketing 
o Defining NFHP’s “Core Values” is the first critical step for branding and marketing aquatic habitat 


conservation.  As Steve Jobs, one of America’s most famous marketers said, people want to know 
who you are and what you stand for.  This process is important because it will help to integrate the 
social sciences into NFHP’s approach to conservation, grow support for conservation and enable the 
platform to reach people it normally would not engage.  Additionally, it will allow potential corporate 
partners to better understand the platform and how it can add value to their respective business.  
Below is a short table to help clarify what core values are and what core values are not.   


Core Values…. 
• Govern personal relations • Guide business processes • Clarify who we are 
• Articulate what we stand for • Explains why we do business the way we do • Guide us on how to teach 
• Inform us on how to reward • Guide us in making  decisions • Underpin the whole organization 
• Require no external justification • Essential tenets  


Core Values are not… 
• A regurgitation of operating practices • A description of business strategies • Cultural norms 
• An identification of competencies • Changed in response to market or administration changes • Used individually 
 
 Potential Implications 
• Traditionally, the conservation community has been very operationally-oriented with a “boots-on-


the-ground” mentality.  Applying branding and marketing processes won’t change that; but it will 
require the adoption of a new mindset, one that focuses on addressing the human side of 
conservation.  While it’s unreasonable to expect those associated with NFHP to become 
marketers overnight, it recommended that all facets of NFHP become engaged -- with the Board 
defining platform’s core values and the Regional FHPs designating someone to help translate a 
habitat project’s scientific information into values that can be leveraged.    


 
o Implementation & Budget 
o Applying branding and marketing to NFHP requires an expanded team effort.  While Board and 


Regional FHPs roles will change, there will also be new roles for NGOs, manufacturers, retailers, 
reps, guides and outfitters.  To facilitate this transition, co-sponsoring Regional FHP branding 
workshops will reinforce and expand a sense of community around aquatic habitat conservation and 
will help to define the different roles for the players who need to be involved.  And with the private 
sector partners providing in-kind support with their marketing expertise, it will be important for the 
government to find some resources to help support these efforts.  By meeting with individual agencies 
and explaining how these efforts can help them with their involvement in NFHP and with their own 
programs, we can secure some funding support to make this happen.   
 
 Potential Implications 
• Changing a successful landscape scale conservation platform will meet with resistance; however, 


by creating a collaborative action plan that involves key companies and focuses on marketing 
NFHP will allow us to overcome the resistance.  And then NFHP and aquatic habitat conservation 
will become elevated to new levels, and a new collaborative paradigm will emerge that elevates 
aquatic habitat conservation to new heights.  








National Fish Habitat Board  
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 8 
 


Report on FY 2013 Funding - U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 
National Fish Habitat Action Plan 


 
Background 
 
The Fish and Wildlife Service (Service) first received funds for the National Fish Habitat 
Action Plan in FY 2006, with Congressional direction “to implement on-the-ground, cost-
shared habitat restoration projects, identified in the Fisheries Operational Needs System and 
in direct support of fish habitat partnerships … and … to support continued development of 
the National Fish Habitat Plan” (House Report 109-080).  Each year, the Service has 
reported on the allocation of NFHAP funds at meetings of the National Fish Habitat Board. 
 
The Service’s NFHAP funding for 2006-2014 is shown in the table below.  The 2013 
appropriation was reduced by an across-the-board sequestration of 6.7%.  The 2013 funding 
includes two earmarks:  $229,278 for the Healthy Lands Initiative in the Green River Basin, 
Wyoming and $1,862,795 for projects that address adaptation to climate change. 
 


Fiscal Year President’s Request 
($ millions) 


Appropriated 
($ millions) 


2006 -- 0.985 
2007 2.985 2.985 
2008 5.235 5.153 
2009 5.153 5.153 
2010 7.153 7.153 
2011 7.153 7.153 
2012 7.153 7.142 
2013 7.142 6.664 
2014 7.142 -- 


 
To promote consistency within the Service and transparency for our partners, the use of 
Service funds for NFHAP is guided by written policy, accessible online at 
http://www.fws.gov/policy/717fw1.html. 
 
It is important to note that these funds are the Service Fisheries Program’s contribution 
toward implementing the Action Plan.  The Service encourages its Fisheries Program field 
stations to take an active role in developing and implementing projects that are highly ranked 
by Fish Habitat Partnerships.  While many of the funds are passed through to partners to 
implement FHP-ranked projects, the funds also support Service staffs in each Region, who 
assist FHPs, some as FHP coordinators, in strategic planning, assessment, outreach, and 
project implementation.  These Fisheries Program operational funds should not be confused 
with a grant program that may be established by proposed NFHAP legislation.   
 
 
Allocation of FY 2013 funds 
 
In FY 2013, the Service received an appropriation of $6,663,562 to implement NFHAP.  The 
amount available for allocation was reduced by $16,659 for the Director’s “deferred 
allocation” fund to meet emergency needs during the year.     


 1 



http://www.fws.gov/policy/717fw1.html





National Fish Habitat Board  
October 22-23, 2013 


Tab 8 
 


 
National 


 Board priorities $279,941 Supports Board communications and science priorities 
through contracts with AFWA and Michigan State University.  


 Board staff $180,905 Full-time staff support for Board activities, including travel.   
Coordination & 
Leadership 


$210,691 Reservoir FHP coordination, additional Washington Office staff 
support, space costs, and other operational costs. 


Subtotal National $671,537  
Regional 


FHP development 
& operations 


$931,333 Supports development and operational costs of Fish Habitat 
Partnerships, including FHP coordination, meeting and travel 
expenses, strategic planning, and development of scientific 
capabilities.   


Coordination & 
Leadership 


$1,639,155 Includes staff support, helping FHPs rank and select projects, 
reporting accomplishments of projects, providing biological 
expertise and technical assistance to FHPs, and outreach in 
support of the Action Plan. 


Healthy Lands 
Initiative 


$229,278 Projects that address priorities of Fish Habitat Partnerships in 
the Green River Basin, Wyoming (potentially WNTI and 
DFHP). 


Subtotal Regional $2,799,766  
Local projects 
 $518,370 Southeast Aquatic Resources Partnership 
 $518,370 Eastern Brook Trout Joint Venture 
 $518,370 Western Native Trout Initiative 
 $259,185 Driftless Area Restoration Effort 
 $259,185 Mat-Su Basin Salmon Conservation Partnership 


 $93,400 Southwest Alaska Salmon Habitat Partnership 
 $84,060 Desert Fish Habitat Partnership 
 $84,060 Midwest Glacial Lakes Partnership 
 $84,060 Hawaii Fish Habitat Partnership 
 $84,060 Atlantic Coastal Fish Habitat Partnership 
 $84,060 Ohio River Basin Fish Habitat Partnership 
 $84,060 Reservoir Fisheries Habitat Partnership 
 $84,060 Great Lakes Basin Fish Habitat Partnership 
 $84,060 Great Plains Fish Habitat Partnership 
 $84,060 Kenai Peninsula Fish Habitat Partnership 


 $84,060 California Fish Passage Forum 
 $84,060 Fishers and Farmers Partnership 
 $84,060 Pacific Marine & Estuarine Partnership (recognized Jan 2012) 
Subtotal local projects $3,175,600  
GRAND TOTAL $6,646,903  
 
 
For more information: 
David Hoskins, Assistant Director – Fish and Aquatic Conservation, 202-208-6393 
Tom Busiahn, FWS NFHP Coordinator, 703-358-2056 


 2 








October 11, 2013 


Memorandum For: NFHP Board 


From:  Matt Menashes, Senior Policy Advisor 


Subject: Draft Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws for a Nonprofit Corporation to 
Support the National Fish Habitat Partnership 


At its last meeting, the Board passed a motion to begin the process of establishing a 501(c)(3) 
not-for-profit corporation using a phased, check-in approach.  We are reporting on the first step of 
that approach, Project Initiation and Document Creation. 


It is important to remember that the not-for-profit corporation is intended to be separate from the 
National Fish Habitat Board and to serve as a tool for the National Fish Habitat Partnership and 
the regional Fish Habitat Partnerships (FHPs).  The analysis presented this summer identified the 
span of control for the new corporation as well as the National Fish Habitat Board and staff (see 
Attachment A). 


The steps we have taken are: 
1. Establish a board workgroup.


A workgroup was established with Mike Andrews, Steve Moyer, and Matt Menashes. 


2. Draft and finalize articles of incorporation and bylaws.
The draft articles of incorporation and bylaws are attached for your review.  We are
seeking your approval of these documents (Attachments B and C).


The workgroup focused its efforts on the governance structure outlined in the bylaws.  In
summary, the corporation will have:


• An 8-12 person board.  The workgroup felt this was an appropriately manageable
board size and that it was consistent with current best management practices in
the not-for-profit sector.


• A President/CEO.  The workgroup felt that providing for a capable
President/CEO was in the best interests of long-term success.


• A reasonable committee structure that includes an executive committee of the
officers, and provides for ad-hoc workgroups and task forces.


• Chapters comprised of the FHPs that might choose to operate under the
corporate umbrella.  The bylaws provide for all of the standard requirements for
not-for-profit corporation chapters, including:


o acceptance
o powers, duties, and responsibilities
o standing
o probation, suspension, revocation, or dissolution, and
o reactivation and reinstatement.


3. Establish a name.
We have not taken any steps towards consideration of a name for the corporation.


National Fish Habitat Board
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 9







Attachment A 
Span of Control 


National Fish Habitat 
Board 


Affiliated 501(c)(3) 


Corporation 


NFH Board Staff 


Aquatic Habitat 
Conservation National 
Policy 


Coordination of the 
Partnership/Partnership 
Communications 


Fundraising 


Brand Development 
and Marketing 


Advocacy 


FHP Review and 
Approval 


FHP Guidance 


FHP Umbrella 
Non-Profit 


Conservation Project 
Support 


Science and Data 


National Fish Habitat Board
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 9







DRAFT


Attachment B 


DRAFT ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION 
National Fish Habitat XXXX 


The undersigned, a majority of whom are citizens of the United States, desiring to form a Non-
Profit Corporation under D.C. Code Title 29 Chapter 4, do hereby certify: 


First:  The name of the Corporation shall be National Fish Habitat XXXX.  The corporation 
[shall/shall not] have members. 


Second:  The Registered Agent is: 
[must be a person or corporate registered agent in D.C.] 


Third:  Said corporation is organized exclusively for charitable, educational, and scientific 
purposes related to the conservation, protection, and restoration of fish and aquatic 
habitats in the United States, including, for such purposes, the making of distributions to 
organizations that qualify as exempt organizations under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code, or the corresponding section of any future federal tax code. 


Fourth:  The names and addresses of the persons who are the initial directors of the corporation 
are as follows: 


1. Matthew E. Menashes, 2025 Glen Ross Road, Silver Spring, Maryland  20910
2. TBD
3. TBD


Fifth:  No part of the net earnings of the corporation shall inure to the benefit of, or be 
distributable to its members, trustees, officers, or other private persons, except that the 
corporation shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation for services 
rendered and to make payments and distributions in furtherance of the purposes set forth in 
Article Third hereof. No substantial part of the activities of the corporation shall be the carrying on 
of propaganda, or otherwise attempting to influence legislation, and the corporation shall not 
participate in, or intervene in (including the publishing or distribution of statements) any political 
campaign on behalf of or in opposition to any candidate for public office. 


Notwithstanding any other provision of these articles, this corporation shall not, except to an 
insubstantial degree, engage in any activities or exercise any powers that are not in furtherance 
of the purposes of this corporation. 


Sixth:  Upon the dissolution of the corporation, assets shall be distributed for one or more exempt 
purposes within the meaning of section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, or the 
corresponding section of any future federal tax code, or shall be distributed to the federal 
government, or to a state or local government, for a public purpose. Any such assets not so 
disposed of shall be disposed of by a Court of Competent Jurisdiction of the county in which the 
principal office of the corporation is then located, exclusively for such purposes or to such 
organization or organizations, as said Court shall determine, which are organized and operated 
exclusively for such purposes. 


In witness whereof, we have hereunto subscribed our names this day of XXXXX, 201X. 


National Fish Habitat Board
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 9







DRAFT


Attachment C 
Draft Bylaws 


BYLAWS 
OF THE 


CORPORATION NAME TO BE DETERMINED 


ARTICLE I 
OFFICE AND REGISTERED AGENT 


Section 1.  Principal Office.  The principal office of the Corporation shall located in a place chosen 
by the Board of Directors. 


Section 2.  Registered Office and Agent.  The Corporation shall have and continuously maintain a 
registered office and a registered agent in the District of Columbia, as required by the District of 
Columbia Nonprofit Corporation Act.  The registered agent shall be either an individual resident of 
the District of Columbia or a corporation authorized to transact business in the District of 
Columbia.   


ARTICLE II 
PURPOSES 


The purposes for which the Corporation is formed are as set forth in the Articles of Incorporation. 


The mission of the Corporation is to conserve, protect, and restore fish and aquatic habitat in the 
United States by supporting the National Fish Habitat Partnership and regional Fish Habitat 
Partnerships. 


ARTICLE III 
MEMBERSHIP 


The Corporation shall have no members. 


ARTICLE IV   
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 


Section 1.  Powers.  There shall be a Board of Directors of the Corporation, which shall supervise 
and control the business, property, and affairs of the Corporation, except as otherwise expressly 
provided by law, the Articles of Incorporation of the Corporation, or these Bylaws.  In the event of 
an emergency, the Board may assume emergency powers such as, but not limited to, modifying 
lines of succession, and relocating offices. 


Section 2.  Number and Qualifications.  The members of the initial Board of Directors of the 
Corporation shall be those individuals named in the Articles of Incorporation and shall serve until 
their successors are elected and qualified.  Thereafter, the Board of Directors of the Corporation 
shall be composed of no less than eight and no more than 12 individuals.  The number of 
directors may be decreased, but no decrease shall have the effect of shortening the term of any 
incumbent director. 


Section 3.  Election and Term of Office.  The members of the Board of Directors shall be elected 
by the directors at the annual meeting of the Board and take office on the first day of the month 
following the Annual Meeting.  At the time of his or her election, each director shall be assigned to 
Class A, Class B, or Class C, and an effort shall be made to keep each class of directors of 
approximately equal size.   Each director shall hold office for a term of three years, except that for 
the initial Board elected at the organizational meeting in 201X: 


a. Directors in Class A shall have their term expire in 201X (and every three years
thereafter); 
b. Directors in Class B shall have their term expire in 201X+1 (and every three years
thereafter); and 


National Fish Habitat Board
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 9







DRAFT


c. Directors in Class C shall have their term expire in 201X+2 (and every three years
thereafter). 


Section 4.  Resignation.  Any director may resign at any time by giving written notice to the 
Chairman of the Board.   Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein, or, if no 
time is specified, at the time of acceptance thereof as determined by the Chairman of the Board. 


Section 5.  Removal.  Any director may be removed from such office, with or without cause, by a 
two-thirds vote of all of the directors then in office at any regular or special meeting of the Board 
called expressly for that purpose.   


Section 6.   Vacancies.  Vacancies shall be filled by majority vote of the remaining members of 
the Board of Directors for the unexpired term. 


Section 7.  Regular Meetings.  A regular annual meeting of the Board of Directors of the 
Corporation shall be held each year, at such time, day and place as shall be designated by the 
Board of Directors. 


Section 8.  Special Meetings.  Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called at the 
direction of the Chair or by a majority of the voting directors then in office, to be held at such time, 
day, and place as shall be designated in the notice of the meeting. 


Section 9.  Notice.  Notice of the time, day, and place of any meeting of the Board of Directors 
shall be given at least 14 days previous to the meeting and in the manner set forth in Section 2 of 
Article VII.  The purpose for which a special meeting is called shall be stated in the notice.  Any 
director may waive notice of any meeting by a written statement executed either before or after 
the meeting.  Attendance and participation at a meeting without objection to notice shall also 
constitute a waiver of notice. 


Section 10.  Quorum.  A majority of the directors then in office shall constitute a quorum for the 
transaction of business at any meeting of the Board of Directors. 


Section 11.  Manner of Acting.  Except as otherwise expressly required by law, the Articles of 
Incorporation of the Corporation, or these Bylaws, the affirmative vote of a majority of the 
directors present at any meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of 
Directors.  Each director shall have one vote.  Voting by proxy shall not be permitted. 


Section 12.  Unanimous Written Consent In Lieu of a Meeting.  The Board may take action 
without a meeting if written consent to the action is signed by all of the directors. 


Section 13.  Telephone Meeting.  Any one or more directors may participate in a meeting of the 
Board of Directors by means of a conference telephone or similar telecommunications device, 
which allows all persons participating in the meeting to hear each other.  Participation by 
telephone shall be equivalent to presence in person at the meeting for purposes of determining if 
a quorum is present. 


ARTICLE V 
OFFICERS 


Section 1.  Officers.  The officers of the Corporation shall minimally consist of a Chair, a Vice 
Chair, a Secretary, and a Treasurer.  The Corporation shall have such other assistant officers as 
the Board of Directors may deem necessary and such officers shall have the authority prescribed 
by the Board.  One person shall not hold two offices.  


Section 2.  Election of Officers.  The officers of the Corporation shall be elected by the directors at 
the annual meeting of the Board of Directors. 


Section 3.  Term of Office.  The officers of the Corporation shall be installed at the annual 
meeting at which they are elected and shall hold office for two year until the next annual meeting 
or until their respective successors shall have been duly elected. 


National Fish Habitat Board
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 9







DRAFT


Section 4.  Resignation.  Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Chair of 
the Board.  Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified in the notice, or if no time is 
specified, then immediately.   


Section 5.  Removal.  Any officer may be removed from such office, with or without cause, by 
two-thirds vote of all of the directors then in office at any regular or special meeting of the Board 
called expressly for that purpose.   


Section 6.  Vacancies.  A vacancy in any office shall be filled by the Board of Directors for the 
unexpired term. 


Section 7.  Chair. The Chair shall give active direction and exercise oversight pertaining to all 
affairs of the Corporation.  He or she may sign contracts or other instruments, which the Board of 
Directors has authorized to be executed, and shall perform all duties incident to the office of Chair 
as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors. 


Section 8.  Vice Chair.  The Vice Chair shall preside over meetings of the Corporation in the 
absence of the Chair.  In addition, the Vice Chair shall exercise the powers of the Chair if the 
Chair is unable to perform his or her activities for any period of time. 


Section 9.  Secretary.  The Secretary shall keep the minutes of the meetings of the Board of 
Directors; see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws, 
ensure staff members keep corporate records; and in general perform all duties incident to the 
office of Secretary and such other duties as may be assigned by the Board of Directors. 


Section 10.  Treasurer.  The Treasurer shall be responsible for and oversee all financial matters 
of the Corporation.  The Treasurer shall ensure staff members properly receive and give receipts 
for moneys due and payable to the Corporation and deposit all such moneys in the name of the 
Corporation in appropriate banks, and in general perform all the duties incident to the office of 
Treasurer and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him or her by the Board 
of Directors. 


Section 10.  Bonding.  If requested by the Board of Directors, any person entrusted with the 
handling of funds or valuable property of the Corporation shall furnish, at the expense of the 
Corporation, a fidelity bond approved by the Board of Directors. 


ARTICLE VI 
COMMITTEES 


Section 1.  Standing Committees.  The Board of Directors, by resolution adopted by a majority of 
the directors then in office may designate and appoint one or more standing committees, 
including but not limited to a finance committee and a nominations committee, each consisting of 
two or more directors, which committees shall have and exercise the authority of the Board of 
Directors in the governance of the Corporation.  However, no committee shall have the authority 
to amend or repeal these Bylaws, elect or remove any officer or director, adopt a plan of merger, 
or authorize the voluntary dissolution of the Corporation.  


Section 2.  Executive Committee.  Between meetings of the Board of Directors, on-going 
oversight of the affairs of the Corporation may be conducted by an Executive Committee, the 
membership of which shall be the officers of the Board of Directors and the President/Chief 
Executive Officer. 


Section 3.  Other Committees and Task Forces.  The Board of Directors may create and appoint 
members to such other committees and task forces as they shall deem appropriate.  Such 
committees and task forces shall have the power and duties designated by the Board of 
Directors, and shall give advice and make non-binding recommendations to the Board, and shall 
be limited to the term established by the Board and then dissolved or renewed. 


Section 4.  Term of Office.  Each member of a committee shall serve until a successor is 
appointed, unless the committee is sooner dissolved.   


National Fish Habitat Board
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 9







DRAFT


Section 5.  Vacancies.  Vacancies in the membership of committees may be filled by the Chair 
of the Board.   


Section 6.  Rules.  Each committee and task force may adopt rules for its meetings not 
inconsistent with these Bylaws or with any rules adopted by the Board of Directors. 


ARTICLE VII 
MEETINGS 


Section 1.  Annual Meeting.  The organization shall hold an annual meeting of the Corporation to 
be held at the time and place designated by the Board, to be designated no later than three (3) 
months prior to the date of the meeting.  Written notice specifying the time, date, and place of the 
annual meeting shall be given to each Board member by the secretary no later than two (2) 
months prior to the opening of said annual meeting.  The agenda of the annual meeting shall be 
prepared by the Executive Committee for the approval of the board. 


Section 2.  Board Meetings.  Board meetings of the Corporation shall be called at such time and 
place as the board may select.  The secretary shall give thirty (30) days written notice of any 
Board meeting to each Board member.  Board meetings may be held in conjunction with the 
Annual Meeting of the Corporation. 


ARTICLE VIII 
PRESIDENT/CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 


Subject to the control of the Board and any supervisory powers the Board may give to the 
chairman of the Board, the president/chief executive officer shall have general supervision, 
direction, and control of the business and affairs of the Corporation including the Corporation’s 
staff, and shall see that all orders and resolutions of the Board are carried into effect. The 
president/chief executive officer shall also perform all duties incidental to this office that may be 
required by law and all such other duties as are properly required of this office by the Board.  The 
president/CEO shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as from time to time 
may be prescribed for him or her by the Board, these bylaws, or the chairman of the Board.  


ARTICLE IX 
CHAPTERS 


Section 1.  Regional Fish Habitat Partnerships.  Any regional Fish Habitat Partnership (FHP) 
approved by the National Fish Habitat Board, may request recognition by the Corporation as a 
“chapter” of the Corporation.  Recognition as a chapter is in addition to recognition as an FHP, 
and as such nothing in this article is intended to conflict with the responsibilities of the National 
Fish Habitat Board or with the roles and responsibilities of an FHP. 


a. Any FHP requesting recognition from the Corporation as a chapter of the Corporation
must comply with policies and procedures established by the Board, including entering 
into the standard Memorandum of Understanding with the Corporation. 


a. A representative from each FHP recognized as a chapter will serve as a liaison to the
Corporation.  Liaisons will provide an annual report to the Corporation, provide copies of 
all meeting minutes and resolutions, and be responsible for ensuring communications 
between FHP and the Corporation. 


Section 2.  Financial and Other Services.  The Corporation will establish policies and procedures 
to provide financial and other services required by chapters, including but not limited to: 


a. accounting and fiscal management including the establishment of restricted and
unrestricted accounts; 


b. banking and investment services;
c. insurance; and
d. auditing.


National Fish Habitat Board
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 9







DRAFT


Section 3.  Powers, Duties, Responsibilities.  FHPs hold all such powers, duties, and 
responsibilities as required to carry out the activities envisioned in their strategic plans that are 
not specifically reserved for the Corporation.  Fundraising by FHPs should be coordinated with 
the Corporation and shall not conflict with the fundraising efforts of the Corporation.  Each FHP 
may determine if it will be a membership organization, and if so, will determine the composition of 
its membership in consultation with the Corporation.  Each FHP shall have at least two (2) 
meetings each fiscal year.  No FHP shall be or hold itself out to be an agent of the Corporation.   


Section 4.  Standing.  For a FHP to be in good standing as a chapter, it must support the 
purposes of the Corporation, meet requirements set out by these Bylaws and the policies and 
procedures of the Corporation, meet all financial obligations, file reports promptly, and participate 
in the annual meeting of the Corporation. 


Section 5.  Probation, Suspension, Revocation, or Dissolution.  
a. A chapter may be placed on probation with the Corporation by the Board of Directors for


failure to comply with these Bylaws and established policies and procedures of the 
Corporation. The board will notify the chapter leadership in writing that the chapter is on 
probation.  The chapter will have two months to meet the necessary requirements and be 
removed from probationary status.  Failure to comply will result in suspension. 


b. The activities of a chapter may be suspended by the Board of Directors of the
Corporation for failure to comply with these Bylaws and established Policies and 
Procedures of the Corporation. 


c. A chapter’s status may be withdrawn by a majority vote of the Board of Directors of the
Corporation. 


d. A FHP may choose to drop its chapter status.
e. If an FHP drops or loses its chapter status, all cash and other assets remaining after the


payment of all debts shall be paid to an appropriate private nonprofit organization
recommended by the leadership of the FHP and approved by the Board of Directors of
the Corporation.


Section 6.  Reactivation and Reinstatement of a Chapter.  A FHP may be reactivated as a 
chapter following suspension by three-fourths (3/4) vote of the Board.  A FHP which loses its 
status as a chapter or drops itself from chapter status may be reinstated by meeting any 
requirements the Board establishes for a newly organizing chapter. 


ARTICLE X 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 


Section 1.  Fiscal Year.  The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be October 1 through September 
30. 


Section 2.  Notice.  Whenever under the provisions of these Bylaws notice is required to be given 
to a director, officer, or committee member, such notice shall be given in writing by first-class mail 
or overnight delivery service with postage prepaid to such person at his or her address as it 
appears on the records of the Corporation.  Such notice shall be deemed to have been given 
when deposited in the mail or the delivery service.  Notice may also be given by electronic mail, 
or hand delivery, and will be deemed given when received. 


National Fish Habitat Board
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 9







DRAFT


ARTICLE XI 
INDEMNIFICATION 


Unless otherwise prohibited by law, the Corporation shall indemnify any director or officer or any 
former director or officer, and may by resolution of the Board of Directors indemnify any 
employee, against any and all expenses and liabilities incurred by him or her in connection with 
any claim, action, suit, or proceeding to which he or she is made a party by reason of being a 
director, officer, or employee.  However, there shall be no indemnification in relation to matters as 
to which he or she shall be adjudged to be guilty of a criminal offense or liable to the Corporation 
for damages arising out of his or her own gross negligence in the performance of a duty to the 
Corporation. 


Amounts paid in indemnification of expenses and liabilities may include, but shall not be limited 
to, counsel fees and other fees; costs and disbursements; and judgments, fines, and penalties 
against, and amounts paid in settlement by, such director, officer, or employee.  The Corporation 
may advance expenses or, where appropriate, may itself undertake the defense of any director, 
officer, or employee.  However, such director, officer, or employee shall repay such expenses if it 
should be ultimately determined that he or she is not entitled to indemnification under this Article. 


The Board of Directors shall authorize the purchase of insurance on behalf of any director, officer, 
employee, or other agent against any liability incurred by her/her which arises out of such 
person's status as a director, officer, employee, or agent, whether or not the Corporation would 
have the power to indemnify the person against that liability under law. 


ARTICLE XII 
AMENDMENTS TO BYLAWS 


These Bylaws may be amended or new Bylaws adopted upon the affirmative vote of two-thirds of 
all the directors then in office at any regular or special meeting of the Board.  The notice of the 
meeting shall set forth a summary of the proposed amendments. 


ARTICLE XIII 
PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY 


The rules contained in Roberts' Rules of Order Newly Revised shall govern all meetings in all 
cases in which they are not inconsistent or in conflict with these Bylaws. 


ARTICLE XIV 
DISSOLUTION 


Upon the dissolution of the Corporation, the Board of Directors, after paying or making provision 
for the payment of all of the liabilities of the Corporation, shall dispose of all of the remaining 
assets of the Corporation exclusively to conserve, protect, and restore fish and aquatic habitat in 
the United States in such manner, or to such organization or organizations as shall at the time 
qualify as a tax-exempt organization or organizations recognized under Section 501(c)(3) of the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the corresponding provision of any future United 
States internal revenue statute, as the board shall determine. 


National Fish Habitat Board
October 22-23, 2013


Tab 9





		ARTICLE VI

		COMMITTEES









